UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

(Rule 14a-101)

INFORMATION REQUIRED IN PROXY STATEMENT SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant \Box

Filed by the Registrant \boxtimes

Che	heck the appropriate box:				
7	Preliminary Proxy Statement				
_	Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))				
_ 		initive Proxy Statement			
_		initive Additional Materials			
		citing Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12			
		INTELLIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.			
		(Name of registrant as specified in its charter)			
		(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)			
Payı	nent	of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):			
$\overline{\times}$		fee required.			
		computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.			
	(1)	Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:			
	(2)	Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:			
	(3)	Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):			
	(4)	Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:			
	(5)	Total fee paid:			
	Fee	paid previously with preliminary materials.			
		ck box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid			
	prev	iously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.			
	(1)	Amount Previously Paid:			
	(2)	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:			
	(3)	Filing Party:			
	(4)	Date Filed:			



INTELLIA THERAPEUTICS, INC. 40 Erie Street Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139

NOTICE OF 2020 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS To be held June 18, 2020

You are invited to attend the 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "Annual Meeting") of Intellia Therapeutics, Inc. (the "Company"), which will be held online on Thursday, June 18, 2020 at 9:00 a.m. Eastern Time. You may attend the meeting virtually via the Internet at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/NTLA2020, where you will be able to vote electronically and submit questions. You will need the 16-digit control number included with the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials being mailed to you separately in order to attend the Annual Meeting.

Stockholders of record at the close of business on April 20, 2020, the record date for the Annual Meeting, are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the Annual Meeting or any adjournment or postponement of the Annual Meeting. The purpose of the Annual Meeting is the following:

- 1. Election of two class I directors to our board of directors, each to serve until the 2023 annual meeting of stockholders and until his successor has been duly elected and qualified, or until his earlier death, resignation or removal;
- 2. Ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020;
- 3. Approval, on a non-binding advisory basis, of the compensation of our named executive officers; and
- 4. Transaction of any other business properly brought before the Annual Meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

You can find more information on each of the matters to be voted on at the Annual Meeting, including information regarding the nominees for election to our board of directors, in the accompanying proxy statement. The board of directors recommends a vote "FOR" the election of each of the two nominees for class I directors, "FOR" the ratification of the appointment of our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020, and "FOR" the approval, on a non-binding advisory basis, of the compensation of our named executive officers, as disclosed in the accompanying proxy statement.

This year, the Company is following the Securities and Exchange Commission's "Notice and Access" rule that allows companies to furnish their proxy materials by posting them on the Internet. As a result, we are mailing to our stockholders a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (the "Notice") instead of a paper copy of the accompanying proxy statement and our Annual Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 (the "2019 Annual Report"). We are mailing the Notice on or about April 24, 2020, and it contains instructions on how to access both the 2019 Annual Report and accompanying proxy statement (the "Proxy Materials") over the Internet. This method provides our stockholders with expedited access to Proxy Materials and not only lowers the cost of printing and distribution but also reduces the environmental impact of the Annual Meeting. If you would like to receive a print version of the Proxy Materials, free of charge, please follow the instructions on the Notice.

Whether or not you expect to attend the Annual Meeting online, we encourage you to read the accompanying proxy statement and vote your shares as promptly as possible to ensure your representation and the presence of a quorum at the Annual Meeting on the Internet as described in the instructions included in the Notice, by telephone by calling 1-800-690-6903 and following the recorded instructions or, if you requested and received a paper copy of the Proxy Materials, by signing, dating and returning the enclosed proxy card. If you vote your shares on the Internet or by

telephone, you will need to enter the 16-digit control number provided in the Notice. Your vote is important regardless of the number of shares you own. If you attend the Annual Meeting online, you may vote your shares during the Annual Meeting virtually via the Internet even if you previously voted your proxy. Your proxy is revocable in accordance with the procedures set forth in the proxy statement.

If your shares are held in "street name," that is, held for your account by a broker or other nominee, you will receive instructions from the holder of record that you must follow for your shares to be voted.

By order of the Board of Directors,

/s/ John M. Leonard John M. Leonard, M.D. President and Chief Executive Officer

Cambridge, Massachusetts April 24, 2020

Table of Contents

	Page
PROXY STATEMENT FOR THE 2020 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS	1
IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING AND VOTING	2
PROPOSAL NO. 1 – ELECTION OF TWO CLASS I DIRECTORS	5
PROPOSAL NO. 2 – RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP AS INTELLIA'S INDEPENDENT	
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2020	11
PROPOSAL NO. 3 – ADVISORY VOTE ON NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICER COMPENSATION	12
TRANSACTION OF OTHER BUSINESS	13
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	14
COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS	19
EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND DIRECTOR COMPENSATION	29
REPORT OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE	39
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS	40
PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS	43
DELINQUENT SECTION 16(a) REPORTS	45
REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE	46
HOUSEHOLDING	47
STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS	47



INTELLIA THERAPEUTICS, INC. 40 Erie Street Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139 857-285-6200

PROXY STATEMENT

FOR THE 2020 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

to be held June 18, 2020

This proxy statement contains information about the 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "Annual Meeting") of Intellia Therapeutics, Inc., which will be held online on Thursday, June 18, 2020 at 9:00 a.m. Eastern Time. You may attend the Annual Meeting virtually via the Internet at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/NTLA2020, where you will be able to vote electronically and submit questions. The board of directors of Intellia Therapeutics, Inc. is using this proxy statement to solicit proxies for use at the Annual Meeting. In this proxy statement, unless expressly stated otherwise or the context otherwise requires, the use of "Intellia," "Company," "our," "we" or "us" refers to Intellia Therapeutics, Inc. and its subsidiary.

All properly submitted proxies will be voted in accordance with the instructions contained in those proxies. If no instructions are specified, the proxies will be voted in accordance with the recommendation of our board of directors with respect to each of the matters set forth in the accompanying Notice of Meeting. You may revoke your proxy at any time before it is exercised at the meeting by giving our corporate secretary written notice to that effect.

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be Held on June 18, 2020:

We are mailing to our stockholders a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials on or about April 24, 2020.

This proxy statement and our 2019 Annual Report to Stockholders are available for viewing, printing and downloading at www.proxyvote.com.

A copy of our 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), except for exhibits, as well as this proxy statement, will be furnished without charge to any stockholder upon written request to our principal executive offices at Intellia Therapeutics, Inc., 40 Erie Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139, Attention: Investor Relations / Corporate Secretary or by emailing IRcontact@intelliatx.com. This proxy statement and our 2019 Annual Report are also available on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING AND VOTING

Purpose of the Annual Meeting

At the Annual Meeting, our stockholders of record as of April 20, 2020 will consider and vote on the following matters:

- 1. Election of two class I directors to our board of directors, each to serve until the 2023 annual meeting of stockholders and until his successor has been duly elected and qualified, or until his earlier death, resignation or removal;
- 2. Ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020;
- 3. Approval, on a non-binding advisory basis, of the compensation of our named executive officers; and
- 4. Transaction of any other business properly brought before the Annual Meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

As of the date of this proxy statement, we are not aware of any business to come before the Annual Meeting other than the first three items noted above.

Board of Directors Recommendation

Our board of directors unanimously recommends that you vote:

FOR the election of the two nominees to serve as the class I directors on our board of directors, each for a three-year term;

FOR the ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020; and

FOR the approval, on a non-binding, advisory basis, of the compensation of our named executive officers.

Availability of Proxy Materials

We are mailing to our stockholders a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (the "Notice") instead of a paper copy of the accompanying proxy statement and our Annual Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 (the "2019 Annual Report") on or about April 24, 2020, and it contains instructions on how to access those documents over the Internet. You will need the 16-digit control number included on the Notice to access these materials. If you would like to receive a print version of the Proxy Materials, free of charge, please follow the instructions on the Notice.

Who Can Vote at the Annual Meeting

Only stockholders of record at the close of business on the record date of April 20, 2020, are entitled to receive notice of the Annual Meeting and to vote the shares of common stock of the Company that they held on that date. As of April 20, 2020, there were 51,358,723 shares of common stock issued and outstanding. Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote on each matter properly brought before the Annual Meeting.

Difference between a "stockholder of record" and a beneficial owner of shares held in "street name"

Stockholder of Record. If you own shares that are registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, Computershare Trust Company, N.A., then you are considered a "stockholder of record" of those shares. For these shares, the Notice has been sent to you directly by us. You may vote your shares by proxy prior to the Annual Meeting by following the instructions contained on the form of proxy card.

Beneficial Owners of Shares Held in Street Name. If you own shares that are held in a brokerage account or by a bank, trust or other nominee or custodian, then you are considered the beneficial owner of those shares, which are held in "street name." With respect to these shares, your Proxy Materials have been forwarded to you by that organization. The organization holding your account is considered the stockholder of record for purposes of voting at the Annual Meeting. As the beneficial owner, you have the right to instruct that organization as to how to vote the shares held in your account by following the instructions contained on the voting instruction card provided to you by that organization.

How to Vote

If you are a stockholder of record, there are several ways for you to vote your shares.

- *By Internet*. You may vote at *www.proxyvote.com*, 24 hours a day, seven days a week. You will need the 16-digit control number included on your Notice. Votes submitted through the Internet must be received by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time, on June 17, 2020.
- *By Telephone*. You may vote using a touch-tone telephone by calling 1-800-690-6903, 24 hours a day, seven days a week. You will need the 16-digit control number included on your Notice. Votes submitted by telephone must be received by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time, on June 17, 2020.
- By Mail. If you requested and received a paper copy of the Proxy Materials you may vote by mail by completing, signing and dating the enclosed proxy card and returning it in the enclosed prepaid envelope. Votes submitted through the mail must be received by June 17, 2020.
- *During the Annual Meeting*. You may vote during the Annual Meeting by going to www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/NTLA2020. You will need the 16-digit control number included on your proxy card.

If the Annual Meeting is adjourned or postponed, the deadlines above may be extended.

The voting deadlines and availability of telephone and Internet voting for beneficial owners of shares held in "street name" will depend on the voting processes of the organization that holds your shares. Therefore, we urge you to carefully review and follow the voting instruction card and any other materials that you receive from that organization. If you hold your shares of Intellia common stock in multiple accounts, you should vote your shares as described in each set of Proxy Materials you receive.

If you submit a proxy without giving voting instructions, your shares will be voted in the manner recommended by the board of directors on all matters presented in this proxy statement, and as the persons named as proxies in the proxy card may determine in their discretion with respect to any other matters properly presented at the Annual Meeting. You may also authorize another person or persons to act for you as proxy in a writing, signed by you or your authorized representative, specifying the details of those proxies' authority. The original writing must be given to each of the named proxies, although it may be sent to them by electronic transmission if, from that transmission, it can be determined that the transmission was authorized by you.

Quorum

A quorum of stockholders is necessary to hold a valid meeting. Our second amended and restated by-laws provide that a quorum will exist if stockholders holding a majority of the shares of stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote are present at the meeting virtually via the Internet or by proxy. Under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "DGCL"), abstentions and broker non-votes count as present for establishing a quorum but will not be counted as votes cast. If a quorum is not present, the meeting may be adjourned until a quorum is obtained.

Ballot Measures Considered "Routine" and "Non-Routine"

The election of the class I directors ("Proposal No. 1") and the non-binding, advisory approval of the compensation of our named executive officers ("Proposal No. 3") are considered non-routine matters under applicable rules. A broker or other nominee cannot vote without instructions on non-routine matters, and therefore there may be broker non-votes on Proposals No. 1 and 3.

The ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as Intellia's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020 ("Proposal No. 2") is a matter considered routine under applicable rules. A broker or other nominee may generally exercise discretionary authority and vote on routine matters. If all brokers exercise this discretionary authority, no broker non-votes are expected to exist in connection with Proposal No. 2.

Votes Required For the Matters to Be Voted on at the Annual Meeting

To be elected, each of the two directors nominated in Proposal No. 1 must receive a plurality of the votes cast and entitled to vote at the meeting, meaning that the two director nominees receiving the most votes will be elected.

The ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as Intellia's independent registered public accounting firm in Proposal No. 2 requires the affirmative vote of the majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote at the meeting and cast "for" or "against" such matter.

The approval, on a non-binding advisory basis, of the compensation of our named executive officers in Proposal No. 3 requires the affirmative vote of the majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting and cast "for" or "against" such matter. Because your vote is advisory, it will not be binding on the board of directors or its compensation committee, but the board of directors and compensation committee will review the voting results and take them into consideration when making future decisions about executive compensation.

Method of Counting Votes

Each holder of common stock is entitled to one vote at the Annual Meeting on each matter to come before the Annual Meeting, including the election of a director, for each share held by such stockholder as of the record date. Votes cast at the Annual Meeting or by proxy by mail, via the Internet or by telephone will be tabulated by the inspector of election appointed for the Annual Meeting, who will also determine whether a quorum is present.

Abstentions and broker "non-votes" are not included in the tabulation of the voting results on any such proposal and, therefore, do not have an impact on such proposals. A broker "non-vote" occurs when a nominee holding shares for a beneficial owner does not vote on a particular proposal because the nominee does not have discretionary voting power with respect to that item, and has not received instructions from the beneficial owner.

Revoking a Proxy; Changing Your Vote

If you are a stockholder of record, you may revoke your proxy before the final vote is taken at the Annual Meeting:

- by signing and returning a new proxy card with a later date, to be received no later than June 17, 2020;
- by submitting a later-dated vote by telephone or via the Internet; please note that only your latest Internet or telephone proxy received by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time, on June 17, 2020, will be counted;
- by participating in the Annual Meeting on June 18, 2020 at 9:00 a.m. Eastern Time virtually via the Internet and voting again; or
- by filing a written revocation with our corporate secretary, to be received no later than June 17, 2020. The written revocation should be addressed to Intellia Therapeutics, Inc., 40 Erie Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139, Attention: Investor Relations / Corporate Secretary.

If your shares are held in "street name," you must contact the bank, broker or other nominee holding your shares and follow their instructions for revoking or changing your vote.

Your attendance at the Annual Meeting online will not automatically revoke your proxy.

Costs of Proxy Solicitation

We will bear the costs of soliciting proxies. In addition to solicitations by mail, our directors, officers, employees and agents, without additional remuneration, may solicit proxies by telephone, facsimile, email, personal interviews and other means. We have hired Broadridge Financial Solutions, Inc. to assist us in the distribution of Proxy Materials. Proxy solicitation expenses that we will pay include those for preparation, mailing, returning, and tabulating the proxies.

Voting Results

We plan to announce preliminary voting results at the Annual Meeting and will publish final results in a Current Report on Form 8-K to be filed with the SEC within four business days following the Annual Meeting.

PROPOSAL NO. 1 - ELECTION OF TWO CLASS I DIRECTORS

Our board of directors currently consists of seven members. In accordance with the terms of our second amended and restated certificate of incorporation and second amended and restated by-laws, our board of directors is divided into three classes, class I, class II and class III, with members of each class serving staggered three-year terms. The members of the classes are divided as follows:

- the class I directors are Jean-François Formela, M.D. and Jesse Goodman, M.D., M.P.H., and their term will expire at the Annual Meeting;
- the class II directors are Fred Cohen, M.D., D.Phil. and Frank Verwiel, M.D., and their term will expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2021; and
- the class III directors are Caroline Dorsa, Perry Karsen and John M. Leonard, M.D., and their term will expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2022.

Upon the expiration of the term of a class of directors, directors in that class will be eligible to be nominated by our board of directors and elected for a new three-year term at the annual meeting of stockholders in the year in which their term expires.

Our second amended and restated certificate of incorporation and second amended and restated by-laws provide that the authorized number of directors may be changed only by resolution of our board of directors. Our certificate of incorporation also provides that our directors may be removed only for cause by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the outstanding shares then entitled to vote in an annual election of directors, and that any vacancy on our board of directors, including a vacancy resulting from an enlargement of our board of directors, may be filled only by vote of a majority of our directors then in office.

Our board of directors has nominated Jean-François Formela, M.D. and Jesse Goodman, M.D., M.P.H. for election as the class I directors at the Annual Meeting. The nominees are presently directors and have indicated a willingness to continue to serve as directors, if elected. If a nominee becomes unable or unwilling to serve, however, the proxies may be voted for a substitute nominee selected by our board of directors. Dr. Formela and our board of directors agreed on the date of this proxy statement that, subject to Dr. Formela being reelected as a class I director at the Annual Meeting, he will resign as a class I director and be reclassified as a class II director with a scheduled expiration of his term at the 2021 annual meeting of stockholders.

We believe that it is essential that our board members represent diverse backgrounds and experiences, as set forth in our Corporate Governance Guidelines. Accordingly, although we do not have a formal board of directors' diversity policy, the board of directors seeks candidates that have broad experience and skills in areas important to the operation of our Company, as well as, diversity of age, gender, race, national origin, ethnicity, sexual orientation and education. We believe that the backgrounds and qualifications of our directors, considered as a group, should provide a composite mix of experience, knowledge and abilities that will allow our board to promote our strategic objectives and fulfill its responsibilities to our stockholders. In this context, we also consider a variety of attributes in selecting nominees to our board, such as:

- an understanding of, and experience in, the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, research and academic organizations and governmental regulatory agencies, and the scientific and legal landscapes in which such entities operate;
- an understanding of, and experience in, accounting oversight and governance, finance, and complex business transactions;
- leadership experience and significant accomplishments with public companies or other comparable organizations;
- long-term reputation for the highest personal and professional integrity; and
- demonstrated contribution as a member of other boards of directors, and sufficient time and availability to devote to the Company's affairs.

These factors and others are considered useful by our board of directors and are reviewed in the context of an assessment of the perceived needs of our board at a particular point in time.

Nominees for Election as Class I Directors

Biographical information, including principal occupation and business experience during the last five years, for our nominees for election as the class I directors at our Annual Meeting is set forth below as of April 20, 2020.

	Age	Since
Jean-François Formela, M.D. , has served as a member of our board of directors since our founding in May 2014. Dr.	63	May 2014
Formela is currently a partner at Atlas Venture, a life sciences-focused venture capital firm, which he joined in		
1993. Prior to joining Atlas Venture, Dr. Formela served as a senior director of medical marketing and scientific affairs		
at Schering-Plough Corporation, a pharmaceutical company which since merged with Merck & Co., Inc. ("Merck"). Dr.		
Formela began his career as a physician practicing emergency medicine at Necker University Hospital in Paris. Dr.		
Formela currently serves on the board of directors of Translate Bio, Inc., and Spero Therapeutics. Within the last five		
years, he also served on the board of directors of Egalet Corporation (now known as Zyla Life Sciences) until April		
2017. Dr. Formela currently serves on the board of directors of various private biotechnology and healthcare companies.		
Dr. Formela is a member of the Partners Healthcare Innovation Advisory Board and a former trustee of the Boston		
Institute of Contemporary Art. He also is a member of the MGH Research Institute advisory council. He received his		
M.D. from the Paris University School of Medicine and his M.B.A. from Columbia University. We believe Dr.		
Formela's experience as an investor and board member in the life sciences industry, as well as his scientific and medical		
knowledge, provides him with the qualifications and skills to serve as a director of our Company.		

Jesse Goodman, M.D., M.P.H., has served as a member of our board of directors since October 2018. Since March 2014, Dr. Goodman has been the director of the Center on Medical Product Access, Safety and Stewardship, and professor of medicine and attending physician in infectious diseases at Georgetown University. Dr. Goodman also is an infectious disease physician at the Washington DC Veterans Affairs and Walter Reed Medical Centers. Dr. Goodman serves on the board of directors of GlaxoSmithKline plc, a multinational pharmaceutical company, which he joined in 2016 and chairs that board's science committee. Dr. Goodman also has served as a president and member of the board of trustees of the United States Pharmacopeia since 2015. He is also a member of the board of scientific counselors for infectious diseases of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention ("CDC"). From 2009 until February 2014, Dr. Goodman served as the chief scientist of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA"). Dr. Goodman also served as deputy commissioner for science and public health at the FDA from 2009 through 2012. Prior to that, Dr. Goodman was the director of the FDA's Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research from 2003 to 2009 and a senior advisor to the FDA commissioner from 1998 through 2000. Prior to his government service, Dr. Goodman was professor of medicine and chief of infectious diseases at the University of Minnesota. Dr. Goodman has served on numerous advisory boards and committees for national and international health care organizations, including the CDC, the National Institute of Health, the World Health Organization and the Coalition on Epidemic Preparedness Innovations. Dr. Goodman received a B.S. in biology from Harvard College, a master's in public health from the University of Minnesota and an M.D. from the Albert Einstein College of Medicine, and did his residency and fellowship training in medicine, infectious diseases and oncology at the Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania and at the University of California in Los Angeles, where he was also chief medical resident. He has been elected to the Institute of Medicine of the National Academy of Sciences. We believe that Dr. Goodman's expertise in medicine, biopharmaceutical regulatory requirements and public health, including as a professor, practicing clinician and senior government leader, provides him with the qualifications and skills to serve as a director of our Company.

	Director	
Age	Since	
68	October 2018	

Director

The proxies will be voted in favor of the above nominees unless a contrary specification is made in the proxy. The nominees have consented to serve as our directors if elected. However, if a nominee is unable to serve or for good cause will not serve as a director, the proxies will be voted for the election of such substitute nominee as our board of directors may designate.

The board of directors recommends voting "FOR" the election of Jean-François Formela, M.D. and Jesse Goodman, M.D., M.P.H., as the class I directors, to serve for a three-year term ending at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2023. In the event Dr. Formela is reelected as a class I director at the Annual Meeting, he will resign as a class I director and be automatically reclassified as a class II director with a scheduled expiration of his new term at the 2021 annual meeting of stockholders.

Directors Continuing in Office

Biographical information, including principal occupation and business experience during the last five years, for our directors continuing in office is set forth below.

Class II Directors (Term Expires at 2021 Annual Meeting)

Fred Cohen, M.D., D.Phil., has served as a member of our board of directors since January 2019. Dr. Cohen co-founded Vida Ventures, a biotechnology venture capital fund, in 2017 and has served as one of its senior managing directors since then. From 2001 to 2016, he was a partner of TPG, a private equity company, and served as the co-head of its biotechnology group, TPG Biotech, a venture capital fund that he founded in 2001. Dr. Cohen currently serves as a senior advisor to TPG. From 1988 through December 2014, Dr. Cohen was a professor of cellular and molecular pharmacology at the University of California, San Francisco, where he also held various clinical responsibilities, including as a research scientist, an internist for hospitalized patients, a consulting endocrinologist, and chief of the division of endocrinology and metabolism. Dr. Cohen currently serves on the boards of directors of Progyny, Inc., CareDx, Inc., UroGen Pharma Ltd., and Veracyte, Inc. Within the last five years, Dr. Cohen has also served on the boards of directors of the following public biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies: Genomics Health, Inc. (until November 2019), Tandem Diabetes Care, Inc. (until June 2019), BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (until January 2019), Five Prime Therapeutics, Inc. (until May 2018), and Roka Bio Science (until its acquisition in October 2017) and Quintiles Transnational Holdings Inc. (now IQVIA Holdings Inc.) (until November 2015). Dr. Cohen was a co-founder and executive chairperson of privately held Cell Design Labs, which was acquired by Gilead Sciences, Inc. ("Gilead") in December 2017. He holds a B.S. in molecular biophysics and biochemistry from Yale University, a D.Phil. in molecular biophysics from Oxford University and an M.D. from Stanford University. Dr. Cohen completed his postdoctoral training and postgraduate medical training in internal medicine and endocrinology at the University of California, San Francisco. He is a fellow of the American College of Physicians and the American College of Medical Informatics, and a member of the American Society for Clinical Investigation and Association of American Physicians. Dr. Cohen was elected to the National Academy of Medicine in 2004 and the American Academy of Arts and Sciences in 2008. We believe that Dr. Cohen's vast experience in the biotechnology industry, including providing strategic advice and oversight to pre-clinical, clinical and commercial biopharmaceutical companies, and in medicine, as a researcher, professor and clinician, provides him with the qualifications and skills to serve as a director of our Company.

Age

Director Since

July 2017

Director Since

January 2019

Age

63

Frank Verwiel, M.D., has served as the chairperson of our board of directors since February 2020 after joining as a member in July 2017. From July 2005 to February 2008, Dr. Verwiel served as president, chief executive officer and a member of the board of directors of Axcan Pharma, Inc. ("Axcan"), a public specialty pharmaceutical company. Dr. Verwiel continued with these responsibilities after taking Axcan private in February 2008 and through February 2014 when the company, which had changed its name to Aptalis Pharma, Inc., was acquired by Forest Laboratories, Inc. Prior to joining Aptalis, Dr. Verwiel held international senior management positions with Merck, including as vice president, hypertension, worldwide human health marketing from June 2001 to May 2005. He concurrently served as a leader of Merck's worldwide hypertension business strategy team. Dr. Verwiel was also managing director of Merck's Dutch subsidiary from June 1996 to May 2001. Prior to his tenure at Merck, he had international leadership positions at Servier Laboratories, a pharmaceutical company, from 1988 until 1995. Dr. Verwiel currently serves on the boards of directors of ObsEva SA, a biopharmaceutical company, which he joined in January 2016, and for which he is currently the chairman of its board of directors, and Bavarian Nordic A/S, a biopharmaceutical vaccine company, which he joined in April 2016. Within the last five years, Dr. Verwiel has also served on the boards of directors of the following public biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies: Achillion Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (December 2016 through January 2020 when it was acquired by Alexion Inc.) and Avexis, Inc. (December 2015 through May 2018 when it was acquired by Novartis). From March 2012 to September 2014, he was a director of InterMune, Inc., a publicly traded biotechnology company, that was acquired by Roche Holding AG ("Roche") in 2014. Dr. Verwiel was also a member of the board of directors of the Biotechnology Innovation Organization from February 2013 to April 2014. Dr. Verwiel holds an M.D. from Erasmus University, Rotterdam in the Netherlands and an M.B.A. from INSEAD, Fontainebleau in France. We believe that Dr. Verwiel's experience as an executive leader and board member in the biopharmaceutical industry, from pre-clinical companies to large multinational entities, as well as his business, scientific and medical knowledge, provide him with the qualifications and skills to serve as a director of our Company.

Class III Directors (Term Expires at 2022 Annual Meeting)

Caroline Dorsa has served as a member of our board of directors since December 2015. Currently Ms. Dorsa also serves as a member of the boards of directors of Biogen Inc., a multinational biotechnology company, since 2010, and Illumina, Inc., a global genetic tool and integrated systems developer, since January 2017. Ms. Dorsa served as the executive vice president and chief financial officer of Public Service Enterprise Group Incorporated, a diversified energy company, from April 2009 until her retirement in October 2015 and served on its board of directors from February 2003 to April 2009. From February 2008 to April 2009, she served as senior vice president, global human health, strategy and integration at Merck. From November 2007 to January 2008, Ms. Dorsa served as senior vice president and chief financial officer of Gilead. From February 2007 to November 2007, she served as senior vice president and chief financial officer of Avaya, Inc., a telecommunications company. From 1987 to January 2007, Ms. Dorsa held various financial and operational positions at Merck, including vice president and treasurer, executive director of U.S. customer marketing, and executive director of U.S. pricing and strategic planning. Ms. Dorsa currently also serves on the board of trustees of the Goldman Sachs ETF Trust, the Goldman Sachs MLP and Energy Renaissance Fund and the Goldman Sachs MLP Income Opportunities Fund. Ms. Dorsa received her B.A. in history from Colgate University and her M.B.A. from Columbia University. We believe Ms. Dorsa's executive leadership experience and board member experience in large multinational pharmaceutical companies, as well as her operational, financial and accounting expertise and knowledge of the pharmaceutical industry and other major industries, provide her with the qualifications and skills to serve as a director of our Company.

60	December
	2015

Director Since

Age

Perry Karsen has served as a member of our board of directors since April 2016, and was the chairman of our board of directors until February 2020. Mr. Karsen joined Samsara BioCapital as a venture partner in March 2020. He also has served as chairperson of the board of directors of Jounce Therapeutics, Inc. since 2016. In January 2018, Mr. Karsen was elected executive chairman of the board of OncoMed Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a board that he joined in January 2016 and served in that capacity until OncoMed's merger with Mereo BioPharma Group plc in April 2019. Within the last five years, Mr. Karsen also has served on the boards of directors of the following public companies: Voyager Therapeutics, Inc. (until 2019), Agios Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (until 2016), Alliqua BioMedical, Inc. (until 2016) and Navidea Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. (until 2015). From May 2013 to December 2015, he served as the chief executive officer of the Celgene Cellular Therapeutics division of Celgene Corporation ("Celgene"), a global biopharmaceutical company that has since been acquired by Bristol-Myers Squibb. Mr. Karsen served as chief operations officer and executive vice president of Celgene from July 2010 to May 2013, and as senior vice president and head of worldwide business development of Celgene and president of Asia/Pacific region from 2004 to 2009. Between February 2009 and July 2010, Mr. Karsen was chief executive officer of Pearl Therapeutics, Inc., a privately held biotechnology company that was subsequently acquired by AstraZeneca plc. Prior to his tenure with Celgene, Mr. Karsen held executive positions at Human Genome Sciences, Inc., a biopharmaceutical company subsequently acquired by GlaxoSmithKline, Bristol-Myers Squibb Co., a biopharmaceutical company, Genentech, Inc., a member of Roche, a global pharmaceutical and diagnostics company, and Abbott Laboratories ("Abbott"), a pharmaceutical and healthcare products company. In addition, Mr. Karsen previously served as a general partner at Pequot Ventures, a venture capital firm. He also serves on the board of directors of the Gladstone Foundation and served on the board of directors of the Sonoma Land Trust until March 2020. He is a past member of the board of directors and a past member of the executive committee of the Biotechnology Innovation Organization and the board of directors of the Alliance for Regenerative Medicine. Mr. Karsen received an M.B.A. from Northwestern University's Kellogg Graduate School of Management, an M.A.T. in teaching biology from Duke University and a B.S. in biological sciences from the University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign. We believe Mr. Karsen's executive leadership experience, including his experience as an executive at large multinational pharmaceutical companies and membership on boards of various biopharmaceutical companies, qualifies him to serve as a member of our board of directors.

Age	Director Since
65	April 2016

<i>John M. Leonard, M.D.</i> , has served as our president and chief executive officer since January 2018, and as a member of			
our board of directors since July 2014. Dr. Leonard has over 30 years of combined experience in medicine and			
pharmaceutical research and development. He previously served as our executive vice president, research and			
development from January 2017 to January 2018, and prior to that served as our chief medical officer from July 2014 to			
January 2017. Prior to joining Intellia, Dr. Leonard was chief scientific officer and senior vice president of research &			
development at AbbVie, Inc. ("AbbVie"), a global biopharmaceutical company, from its spin-out from Abbott in January			
2013 until retiring at the end of 2013. Prior to the formation of AbbVie, from 2008 to 2012, he was global head of			
pharmaceutical research & development at Abbott, a multinational pharmaceutical and health care products company,			
and before that served in various research and development roles at Abbott beginning in 1992. Since October 2016, Dr.			
Leonard has served on the board of directors of IQVIA Holdings Inc., a multinational health information technology and			
clinical research company, and between February 2015 and October 2016, he served on the board of directors of			
Quintiles, an international contract research organization and pharmaceutical service consulting company, which merged			
with IMS to form IQVIA. In the past five years, he also served on the board of directors of Chimerix, Inc. (until March			
2018) and Vitae Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (until its acquisition by Allergan plc in 2016). He received a B.A. in biochemistry			
from the University of Wisconsin at Madison and an M.D. from Johns Hopkins University. Dr. Leonard completed his			
residency in internal medicine at Stanford University School of Medicine, and then completed a postdoctoral fellowship			
in molecular virology at the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases at the National Institutes of Health. We			
believe that Dr. Leonard's extensive experience as an executive leader in drug development and the biopharmaceutical			
industry provides him with the qualifications and skills to serve as a director of our Company.			

There are no family relationships between or among any of our directors or executive officers. The principal occupation and employment during the past five years of each of our directors was carried on, in each case except as specifically identified above, with a corporation or organization that is not a parent, subsidiary or other affiliate of us. There is no arrangement or understanding between any of our directors and any other person or persons pursuant to which he or she is to be selected as a director.

There are no material legal proceedings to which any of our directors is a party adverse to us or in which any such person has a material interest adverse to us or our subsidiary.

Executive Officers Who Are Not Directors

Biographical information for our executive officers who are not directors is listed below.

Glenn G. Goddard has served as our executive vice president, chief financial officer since October 2018. From May 2017 to October 2018, Mr. Goddard served as the chief financial officer at Generation Bio Company. Mr. Goddard served as the senior vice president of finance and principal financial officer at Agios Pharmaceuticals, Inc. from September 2013 through November 2016, and as vice president, finance from July 2010 through September 2013. Mr. Goddard brings nearly 20 years of experience in emerging private and public platform-based biopharmaceutical companies. From January 2004 to June 2010, Mr. Goddard worked at Archemix Corporation, a privately held oligonucleotide platform-based biopharmaceutical company, where he most recently served as the vice president of finance. From January 2001 through December 2003, Mr. Goddard was the corporate controller of ImmunoGen, Inc., a publicly-traded oncology-focused biopharmaceutical company, where he was responsible for external financial reporting, financial planning and tax compliance, and initiated the company's Sarbanes-Oxley compliance efforts. Earlier in his career, Mr. Goddard was an audit supervisor within the Technology, Communication and Entertainment group of Ernst & Young LLP and an audit manager at Feeley & Driscoll, P.C. Mr. Goddard is a graduate of Bentley College, where he earned a B.S. in accountancy, and is a certified public accountant in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

Age	Officer Since		
49	October 2018		

Director Since July 2014

62

José E. Rivera, J.D., has served as our executive vice president, general counsel since January 2017 and previously
served as our chief operating officer and chief legal officer from April 2015 to January 2017. He joined Intellia in July
2014 as our general counsel and chief talent officer. Prior to joining Intellia, Mr. Rivera was the vice president, chief
ethics and compliance officer at AbbVie from its spin-out from Abbott in January 2013 until September 2013. From
1996 to 2012, Mr. Rivera was a member of Abbott's legal division serving in a number of positions of increasing
responsibilities, including leading various legal groups as division vice president and associate general counsel, such as
Abbott's global intellectual property group, intellectual property litigation department, legal regulatory department and
litigation department. Mr. Rivera is a member of the board of directors of the North Suburban Legal Aid Clinic
(Illinois). Mr. Rivera received his B.A. in economics from Boston College and his J.D. from Harvard Law School.

Age Officer Since
50 April 2018

Officer Since July 2014

Andrew D. Schiermeier, Ph.D., has served as our executive vice president, chief operating officer since July 2019. Prior to his current role, Dr. Schiermeier served as our executive vice president of corporate strategy and development since October 2018, as our executive vice president, corporate strategy from April 2018 through October 2018 and as our senior vice president, eXtellia, an Intellia division that focused on ex vivo research and development, from January 2017 through April 2018. Dr. Schiermeier has over two decades of experience as an executive in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical sectors, with experience ranging from managing operations for startups to directing the strategic expansion of global brands. From March 2013 through June 2016, Dr. Schiermeier served as senior vice president, head of oncology and general manager of the Merck-Pfizer Immuno-Oncology Alliance at Merck KGaA. From June 2016 to December 2016, Dr. Schiermeier served as an independent consultant to multiple pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, including Verastem, Inc., Kynan Duke Pharma, LLP and Intellia. Dr. Schiermeier served as the chief operating officer of Aura Biosciences, Inc. from January 2011 through May 2013. From January 2012 through May 2013, Dr. Schiermeier was a corporate advisor to Pathogenica, Inc. Dr. Schiermeier served as the chief executive officer of Lantibio, Inc., from February 2007 through February 2008. Dr. Schiermeier served in chairman and chief executive officer roles from November 2007 through December 2014 at Medicine in Need Corp, an international not-for-profit, non-governmental organization aimed at liberating burdened populations from diseases of poverty through advanced drug and vaccine delivery. Dr. Schiermeier earned a Ph.D. in engineering and applied mathematics from Harvard University, an M.S. in bio-mechanical engineering from Stanford University and an international M.B.A. from College des Ingenieurs in Paris, France. He holds a B.S. in mechanical engineering from Washington University in St. Louis.

Age Officer Since
59 May 2019

Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D., has served as our executive vice president, chief scientific officer since May 2019. Prior to joining Intellia, Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino was vice president, head of nucleic acid therapies, research leadership and a member of the external innovation team at Vertex Pharmaceuticals, Inc. from September 2017 to May 2019. From April 2014 to September 2017, Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino was vice president, entrepreneur-in-residence and head of the hepatic infectious disease strategic therapeutic area at Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Since October 2018, she has been a member of the scientific advisory board of Thermo Fisher Scientific. Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino earned a professional degree in biochemistry from the Universidad de Buenos Aires in Argentina and a Ph.D. in biochemistry from New York University.

The principal occupation and employment during the past five years of each of our executive officers was carried on, in each case except as specifically identified above, with a corporation or organization that is not a parent, subsidiary or other affiliate of us. There is no arrangement or understanding between any of our executive officers and any other person or persons pursuant to which he or she was or is to be selected as an executive officer.

There are no material legal proceedings to which any of our executive officers is a party adverse to us or our subsidiary or in which any such person has a material interest adverse to us or our subsidiary.

PROPOSAL NO. 2 – RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP AS INTELLIA'S INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2020

Intellia's stockholders are being asked to ratify the appointment by the audit committee of the board of directors of Deloitte & Touche LLP as Intellia's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020. Deloitte & Touche LLP has served as Intellia's independent registered public accounting firm since 2015.

The audit committee is responsible for selecting and appointing Intellia's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020. Stockholder approval is not required to appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as Intellia's independent registered public accounting firm. However, the board of directors believes that submitting the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP to the stockholders for ratification is good corporate governance. If the stockholders do not ratify this appointment, the audit committee will reconsider whether to retain Deloitte & Touche LLP. Even if the selection of Deloitte & Touche LLP is ratified, the audit committee, at its discretion, may direct the appointment of a different independent registered public accounting firm at any time it decides that such a change would be in the best interest of Intellia and its stockholders.

A representative of Deloitte & Touche LLP is expected to be present at the Annual Meeting and will have an opportunity to make a statement if he or she desires to do so and to respond to appropriate questions from our stockholders.

Intellia incurred the following fees from Deloitte & Touche LLP for the audit of the consolidated financial statements and for other services provided during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

	2019	2018
Audit fees (1)	\$ 783,679	\$ 611,383
All other fees (2)	1,895	1,895
Total fees	\$ 785,574	\$ 613,278

- (1) Audit fees consist of fees for the audit of our financial statements included in our 2019 and 2018 Annual Reports, the review of our interim financial statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and other professional services provided in connection with registration statements filed with the SEC.
- (2) All other fees represent payment for access to the Deloitte & Touche LLP online accounting research database.

Audit Committee Pre-approval Policy and Procedures

Our audit committee has adopted policies and procedures relating to the approval of all audit and non-audit services that are to be performed by our independent registered public accounting firm. This policy provides that we will not engage our independent registered public accounting firm to render audit or non-audit services, other than non-audit services that are "de minimis" under Section 10A(i)(1)(B) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), unless the service is specifically approved in advance by our audit committee or the engagement is entered into pursuant to the pre-approval procedure described below.

From time to time, our audit committee, or one or more members of the audit committee delegated by the audit committee, may pre-approve all auditing services and the terms thereof and non-audit services (other than non-audit services prohibited under Section 10A(g) of the Exchange Act or the applicable rules of the SEC or the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (the "PCAOB")) to be provided to the Company by the independent auditors during the next 12 months, provided that if the audit committee delegates one or more of its members to make such pre-approval decisions then such delegate(s) shall present all pre-approval decisions to the full audit committee at its first meeting following such decision. Any such pre-approval details the particular service or type of services to be provided and is also generally subject to a maximum dollar amount.

During our 2019 and 2018 fiscal years, all of the services provided to us by Deloitte & Touche LLP were in accordance with the pre-approval policies and procedures described above.

The board of directors recommends voting "FOR" Proposal No. 2 to ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as Intellia's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020.

PROPOSAL NO. 3 – ADVISORY VOTE ON NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICER COMPENSATION

Intellia's stockholders are being asked to vote, on a non-binding advisory basis, on the compensation of our named executive officers as explained herein. The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (the "Dodd-Frank Act") enables our stockholders to vote to approve, on a non-binding advisory basis, the compensation of our named executive officers as disclosed in this proxy statement in accordance with the SEC's rules. In the "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" section below, we describe our executive compensation programs and the decisions that our board of directors and its compensation committee made regarding the 2019 compensation of our named executive officers. We have implemented a pay-for-performance focused compensation program that is designed to motivate employees, including our named executive officers, to achieve short- and long-term results that drive the Company's success and are in the best interests of our stockholders. We believe our compensation policy strikes an appropriate balance between the implementation of responsible, measured compensation practices and the effective provision of incentives for our named executive officers to exert their best efforts for scientific and business success.

Our stockholders voted on May 21, 2019, to have advisory votes every year to approve the compensation paid to our named executive officers, and we have adopted that approach until the next required stockholder vote on the frequency of such advisory vote. This vote is not intended to address any specific item of compensation, but rather the overall compensation of our named executive officers and the policies and practices described in this proxy statement. Accordingly, our board of directors is asking our stockholders to vote FOR the following non-binding advisory resolution on the approval of the compensation of the Company's named executive officers as disclosed in this proxy statement:

"BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Company's stockholders hereby approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation of the Company's named executive officers, as disclosed in the proxy statement for the 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders pursuant to Section 14A of the Exchange Act, including the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the Summary Compensation Table, and the narrative disclosures that accompany the compensation tables."

As this vote is advisory, it will not be binding upon our board of directors or compensation committee, and neither our board of directors nor our compensation committee will be required to take any action as a result of the outcome of this vote. However, our compensation committee will carefully consider the outcome of this vote when considering future executive compensation policies and decisions.

For approval, this proposal must receive the affirmative vote of the majority of shares properly cast on the proposal. Abstentions and broker non-votes will have no effect on Proposal No. 3.

The board of directors recommends voting "FOR" Proposal No. 3 to approve, on a non-binding advisory basis, the compensation of the named executive officers, as disclosed in this proxy statement, including the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, compensation tables and narrative discussion.

TRANSACTION OF OTHER BUSINESS

Our board of directors does not know of any other matters to be raised at the Annual Meeting. If any other matters not mentioned in this proxy statement are properly brought before the meeting, the appropriate executive officers and directors named in this proxy statement intend to use their discretionary voting authority under the proxy to vote the proxy in accordance with their best judgment on those matters.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Director Nomination Process

Our nominating and corporate governance committee is responsible for identifying individuals qualified to serve as directors, consistent with criteria approved by our board, and recommending such persons to be nominated for election as directors, except where we are legally required by contract, law or otherwise to provide third parties with the right to nominate.

The process followed by our nominating and corporate governance committee to identify and evaluate director candidates includes requests to board members and others for recommendations, meetings from time to time to evaluate biographical information and background material relating to current directors and potential candidates, and interviews of selected candidates by management, recruiters and members of the committee and our board. The qualifications, qualities and skills that our nominating and corporate governance committee believes must be met by a committee-recommended nominee for a position on our board of directors are as follows:

- Nominees should have experience at a strategic or policymaking level in a business, government, non-profit or academic organization of high standing.
- · Nominees should be highly accomplished in his or her respective field, with superior credentials and recognition.
- Nominees should be well regarded in the community and shall have a long-term reputation for the highest personal and professional integrity.
- Nominees should have sufficient time and availability to devote to the affairs of the company, particularly in light of the number of boards of directors on which such candidate may serve.
- Nominees should have a demonstrated history of actively contributing at board meetings, to the extent the nominee serves or has previously served on other boards.
- Nominees should be most effective, in conjunction with the other candidates to the board, in collectively serving the long-term interests of the stockholders.

Stockholders may recommend individuals to the nominating and corporate governance committee for consideration as potential director candidates. Any such proposals should be submitted to our corporate secretary at our principal executive offices no later than the close of business on the 120th day prior to the first anniversary of the date of the preceding year's annual meeting and should include appropriate biographical and background material to allow the nominating and corporate governance committee to properly evaluate the potential director candidate and the number of shares of our stock beneficially owned by the stockholder proposing the candidate. Stockholder proposals should be addressed to Intellia Therapeutics, Inc., 40 Erie Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139, Attention: Investor Relations / Corporate Secretary. Assuming that biographical and background material has been provided on a timely basis in accordance with our second amended and restated by-laws, any recommendations received from stockholders will be evaluated in the same manner as potential nominees proposed by the nominating and corporate governance committee. If our board of directors determines to nominate and recommend the election of a stockholder-recommended nominee, then his or her name will be included on our proxy card for the next annual meeting of stockholders. See "Stockholder Proposals" for a discussion of submitting stockholder proposals.

Director Independence

Applicable Nasdaq Stock Market LLC ("Nasdaq") rules require a majority of a listed company's board of directors to be comprised of independent directors. In addition, the Nasdaq rules require that, subject to specified exceptions, each member of a listed company's audit, compensation and nominating and corporate governance committees be independent; that audit committee members also satisfy independence criteria set forth in Rule 10C-1 under the Exchange Act and that compensation committee members satisfy independence criteria set forth in Rule 10C-1 under the Exchange Act. Under applicable Nasdaq rules, a director will only qualify as an "independent director" if, in the opinion of the listed company's board of directors, that person does not have a relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. In order to be considered independent for purposes of Rule 10A-3, a member of an audit committee of a listed company may not, other than in his or her capacity as a member of the audit committee, the board of directors, or any other board committee, accept, directly or indirectly, any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee from the listed company or any of its subsidiaries or otherwise be an affiliated person of the listed company or any of its subsidiaries. In addition, in affirmatively determining the independence of any director who will serve on a company's compensation committee, Rule 10C-1 under the Exchange Act requires that a company's board of directors must consider all factors specifically relevant to determining whether a director has a relationship to such company that is material to that director's ability to be independent from management in connection with the duties of a compensation committee member, including: the source of compensation to the director, including any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee paid by such company to the director, and whether the director is affiliated with the company or any

Our board of directors has determined that each of the directors who served during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, with the exception of Dr. Leonard, and each of the nominees for director at the Annual Meeting, are independent directors, including for purposes of the rules of Nasdaq and the SEC. In making such independence determination, our board of directors considered the relationships that each non-employee director has with us and all other facts and circumstances that our board of directors deemed relevant in determining their independence, including the beneficial ownership of our capital stock by each non-employee director. In considering the independence of the directors listed above, our board of directors considered the association of our directors with the holders of more than 5% of our common stock. There are no family relationships among any of our directors or executive officers. Dr. Leonard is not an independent director under these rules because he is an executive officer of the Company.

Board Committees

Our board of directors has established an audit committee, a compensation committee, and a nominating and corporate governance committee. Each of the audit committee, compensation committee, and nominating and corporate governance committee operates under a charter, and each such committee reviews its respective charter at least annually. A current copy of the charter for each of the audit committee, compensation committee, and nominating and corporate governance committee is posted on the corporate governance section of our website, http://ir.intelliatx.com/corporate-governance/documents-charters.

Audit Committee

Ms. Dorsa, Dr. Formela and Dr. Verwiel serve on the audit committee, which is chaired by Ms. Dorsa. Our board of directors has determined that each of Ms. Dorsa, Dr. Formela and Dr. Verwiel is "independent" for audit committee purposes as that term is defined in the applicable rules of the SEC and Nasdaq, and has sufficient knowledge in financial and auditing matters to serve on the audit committee. Our board of directors has designated Ms. Dorsa as an "audit committee financial expert," as defined under the applicable rules of the SEC. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, the audit committee met eight times. The report of the audit committee is included in this proxy statement under "Report of the Audit Committee." The audit committee's responsibilities include:

- · appointing, approving the compensation of, and assessing the independence of our independent registered public accounting firm;
- pre-approving auditing and permissible non-audit services, and the terms of such services, to be provided by our independent registered public accounting firm;
- reviewing and approving the overall audit plan with our independent registered public accounting firm and members of management responsible for preparing our financial statements;
- reviewing and discussing with management and our independent registered public accounting firm our annual and quarterly financial statements and related disclosures as well as critical accounting policies and practices used by us;
- coordinating the oversight and reviewing the adequacy of our internal control over financial reporting;
- establishing policies and procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of finance-related complaints and concerns;
- recommending based upon the audit committee's review and discussions with management and our independent registered public accounting firm whether our audited financial statements shall be included in our 2019 Annual Report;
- monitoring the integrity of our financial statements and our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements as they relate to our financial statements and accounting matters;
- preparing the audit committee report required by the Exchange Act to be included in our annual proxy statement;
- · reviewing all related person transactions for potential conflict of interest situations and approving all such transactions; and
- · reviewing and discussing quarterly earnings press releases.

All audit and non-audit services, other than *de minimis* non-audit services, to be provided to us by our independent registered public accounting firm must be approved in advance by our audit committee following the procedures described above in *Audit Committee Pre-approval Policy and Procedures* under Proposal 2.

Compensation Committee

Dr. Cohen, Ms. Dorsa, Dr. Formela, and Mr. Karsen served on the compensation committee in 2019. Dr. Cohen was appointed to the compensation committee on January 23, 2019. The compensation committee is chaired by Dr. Formela. Our board of directors has determined that each member of the compensation committee is "independent" as defined in the applicable Nasdaq rules. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, the compensation committee met seven times. The compensation committee's responsibilities include, but are not limited to:

- annually reviewing and recommending to the board of directors the corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of our chief executive officer:
- evaluating the performance of our chief executive officer in light of such corporate goals and objectives and based on such evaluation: recommending to the board of directors the cash and equity compensation of our chief executive officer;
- evaluating the performance, and determining the cash and equity compensation of all employees holding the level of senior vice president and above, other than our chief executive officer;
- providing oversight of management's decision regarding the compensation of all other members of senior management beyond the chief executive officer, executive officers and senior vice presidents;
- · reviewing, establishing and implementing our overall management compensation strategies, policies and plans;
- reviewing and overseeing our employee compensation and employee benefit programs;
- reviewing and approving our policies and procedures for the grant of equity-based awards under our approved equity plans;
- reviewing and recommending to the board of directors the compensation of our non-employee directors;
- preparing the compensation committee report, as required by SEC rules, to be included in our annual proxy statement;
- evaluating and assessing potential and current compensation advisors to the committee in accordance with the independence standards identified in the applicable Nasdaq rules;
- retaining and approving the compensation of any compensation advisors;
- reviewing and approving the retention or termination of, and obtaining the advice of, any consulting firm or outside advisor engaged to assist the committee in the evaluation of compensation matters;
- periodically reviewing and revising a peer group of companies against which to assess the Company's executive and non-employee director compensation program and practices; and
- · reviewing the results of any stockholder proposals or votes related to executive compensation.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During 2019, the members of our compensation committee included Ms. Dorsa, Mr. Karsen, Dr. Formela and, beginning on January 23, 2019, Dr. Cohen. None of the members of our compensation committee was an employee or officer of Intellia during 2019, a former officer of Intellia, or had any other relationships with us requiring disclosure herein. None of our executive officers currently serves or has served as a director or member of the compensation committee (or other committee serving an equivalent function) of any other entity whose executive officers served as one of our directors or a member of the compensation committee.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

During 2019, Dr. Verwiel, Mr. Karsen and Dr. Goodman served on the nominating and corporate governance committee, which was chaired by Mr. Karsen until February 2020, when Dr. Verwiel became the committee chair. Dr. Goodman was appointed to the nominating and corporate governance committee on January 23, 2019, replacing Ms. Dorsa. Our board of directors has determined that each member of the nominating and corporate governance committee is "independent" as defined in the applicable Nasdaq rules. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, the nominating and corporate governance committee met five times. The nominating and corporate governance committee's responsibilities include:

- developing and recommending to the board of directors criteria for board and committee membership;
- establishing procedures for identifying and evaluating board of director candidates, including nominees recommended by stockholders;
- reviewing the composition of the board of directors to ensure that it is composed of members containing the appropriate skills and expertise to advise us;

- identifying individuals qualified to become members of the board of directors;
- recommending to the board of directors the persons to be nominated for election as directors and to each of the board's committees;
- developing and recommending to the board of directors a code of business conduct and ethics and a set of corporate governance guidelines, and
 periodically reviewing and making recommendations to the board of directors regarding such code of business conduct and corporate guidelines;
- overseeing the evaluation of our board of directors and its committees; and
- in regard to the consideration of any director candidates recommended by stockholders, providing a description of the material elements of a policy for considering any such director candidates, which shall include, but need not be limited to, a statement as to whether the committee will consider director candidates recommended by stockholders, and describing the procedures to be followed by stockholders in submitting such recommendations.

Board and Committee Meetings Attendance

The full board of directors met nine times during 2019. During 2019, each member of the board of directors attended in person or participated in 75% or more of the aggregate of (i) the total number of meetings of the board of directors (held during the period for which such person has been a director) and (ii) the total number of meetings held by all committees of the board of directors on which such person served (during the periods that such person served).

Director Attendance at Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Directors are responsible for attending the annual meeting of stockholders. All members of the board of directors then in office attended the annual meeting of stockholders on May 21, 2019.

Stock Ownership and Policy on Trading, Pledging and Hedging of Company Stock

The compensation committee has adopted a stock ownership and retention policy which requires that each member of our board of directors and our named "executive officers" make a good faith effort by the later of September 2023 or the fifth anniversary of the individual becoming a director or named executive officer to hold shares or a combination of shares and vested stock options (with vested stock options counted at 70% of their net value) with a fair market value totaling at least three times the annual cash retainer for service on the board of directors or the named executive officer's respective annual base salary as an employee of Intellia, as applicable, excluding any bonus payments. Named executive officers and directors are permitted to use vested stock options (as noted above) to satisfy up to 100% and 50% of their required ownership levels, respectively. Until the covered individual meets the required equity ownership under this policy, he or she is required to retain 50% of all Company shares acquired during the phase-in period (net of shares withheld to cover the exercise price or tax withholding obligations); and a covered individual who does not meet the minimum share ownership requirements after the phase-in period is required to retain 100% of all shares he or she acquired (net of shares withheld to cover the exercise price or tax withholding obligations).

Certain transactions in our securities (such as purchases and sales of publicly traded put and call options, and short sales) create a heightened compliance risk or could create the appearance of misalignment between management and stockholders. In addition, securities held in a margin account or pledged as collateral may be sold without consent if the owner fails to meet a margin call or defaults on the loan, thus creating the risk that a sale may occur at a time when an officer or director is aware of material, non-public information or otherwise is not permitted to trade in company securities. Our insider trading policy expressly prohibits our directors, executive officers, and other designated employees and their respective affiliates from selling securities of the Company that are not owned by such individual or entity at the time of the sale (a "short sale"). Further, our directors, executive officers, and other designated employees and their respective affiliates may not, without prior approval from the audit committee, engage in any purchase or sale of puts, calls or other derivative securities of the Company or any derivative securities that provide the economic equivalent of ownership of any of our securities or an opportunity, direct or indirect, to profit from any change in the value of our securities, or other hedging transactions. In addition, our insider trading policy expressly prohibits our directors, executive officers, and other designated employees and their respective affiliates from borrowing against company securities held in a margin account or, without prior approval from the audit committee, pledging our securities as collateral for a loan.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics that applies to all members of our board of directors, and to all our officers and employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, controller, or persons performing similar functions. A current copy of the code is posted on the corporate governance section of our website, which

is located at http://ir.intelliatx.com/corporate-governance/documents-charters. If we make any substantive amendments to, or grant any waivers from, the code of business conduct and ethics for any officer or director, we will disclose the nature of such amendment or waiver on our website or in a current report on Form 8-K.

Board Leadership Structure and Board's Role in Risk Oversight

Currently, the role of chairperson of the board is separated from the role of chief executive officer. We believe that separating these positions allows our chief executive officer to focus on our day-to-day business, while allowing our chairperson of the board to lead the board of directors in its fundamental role of providing strategic advice to, and independent oversight of, management. Our board of directors recognizes the time, effort and energy that the chief executive officer is required to devote to his position in the current business environment, as well as the commitment required to serve as our chairperson, particularly as the board of directors' oversight responsibilities continue to evolve and expand. While our second amended and restated bylaws and corporate governance guidelines do not require that our chairperson and chief executive officer positions be separate, our board of directors believes that having separate positions is the appropriate leadership structure for us at this time and demonstrates our commitment to good corporate governance.

Risk is inherent with every business, and how well a business manages risk can ultimately determine its success. We face a number of risks, including risks relating to our financial condition, research, development and commercialization activities, operations, strategic direction and intellectual property ("IP"). Management is responsible for the day-to-day management of risks we face, while our board of directors, as a whole and through its committees, has responsibility for the oversight of risk management. In its risk oversight role, our board of directors has the responsibility to satisfy itself that the risk management processes designed and implemented by management are adequate and functioning as designed.

The role of the board of directors in overseeing the management of our risks is conducted primarily through committees of the board of directors, as disclosed in the descriptions of each of the committees below and in the charters of each of the committees. The full board of directors (or the appropriate board committee in the case of risks that are under the purview of a particular committee) discusses with management our major risk exposures, their potential impact on us, and the steps we take to manage them. When a board committee is responsible for evaluating and overseeing the management of a particular risk or risks, the chairperson of the relevant committee is responsible for reporting on the discussion to the full board of directors during the next board meeting. This enables the board of directors and its committees to coordinate the risk oversight role, particularly with respect to risk interrelationships.

Communication with the Directors of Intellia

Any interested party with concerns about our company may report such concerns to the board of directors or the chairperson of our board of directors and nominating and corporate governance committee, by submitting a written communication to the attention of such director at the following address:

c/o Intellia Therapeutics, Inc. 40 Erie Street Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139 United States

You may submit your concern anonymously or confidentially by postal mail. You may also indicate whether you are a stockholder, customer, supplier or other interested party.

A copy of any such written communication may also be forwarded to Intellia's legal counsel and a copy of such communication may be retained for a reasonable period of time. The recipient director may discuss the matter with Intellia's legal counsel, with independent advisors, with non-management directors, or with Intellia's management, or may take other action or no action as the director determines in good faith, using reasonable judgment, and applying his or her own discretion.

Communications may be forwarded to other directors if, for example, they relate to important substantive matters and include suggestions or comments that may be important for other directors to know. In general, communications relating to corporate governance and long-term corporate strategy are more likely to be forwarded than communications relating to ordinary business affairs, personal grievances, and matters as to which we tend to receive repetitive or duplicative communications.

The audit committee oversees the procedures for the receipt, retention, and treatment of complaints received by Intellia regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or audit matters, and the confidential, anonymous submission by employees or other persons of concerns regarding questionable accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters. Intellia has also established a toll-free telephone number for the reporting of concerns regarding these matters, which is 1-844-417-8866.

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Overview

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis describes the Company's executive compensation program as it relates to the following "named executive officers."

- John M. Leonard, M.D., our president and chief executive officer
- Glenn G. Goddard, our executive vice president, chief financial officer
- José E. Rivera, J.D., our executive vice president, general counsel
- · Andrew D. Schiermeier, Ph.D., our executive vice president, chief operating officer
- · Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D., our executive vice president, chief scientific officer

The following discussion should be read together with the compensation tables and related disclosures set forth below.

Executive Summary and Company Background

We are a leading genome editing company focused on developing curative therapeutics using a biological tool known as CRISPR/Cas9, which stands for Clustered, Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats ("CRISPR")/CRISPR associated 9 ("Cas9"). We seek to apply this genome editing technology and improvements we are developing, alone or with our collaborators, to develop therapies that can edit disease-associated genes with a single course of treatment and also to create novel engineered cell therapies that can replace a patient's diseased cells or effectively target various cancers and autoimmune diseases. To succeed in our mission, we have established the following overarching goals for our Company and employees, including our named executive officers:

- Develop curative CRISPR/Cas9-based medicines;
- Advance our science to help more patients;
- · Foster an environment that is the best place to make therapies; and
- Focus on long-term sustainability.

We are cognizant that, to be successful, we need to recruit and retain executives that have excellent scientific, business and functional expertise, broad experience in the biopharmaceutical industry, and capability to produce desired strategic and operational results. Accordingly, our executive officers' compensation accounts for the individual's expertise and experience, as well as his or her contribution to our Company's objectives for the year based on our operational and individual performance metrics, and the need to incent long-term execution. This approach to executive compensation is aligned with the interests of our stockholders because it ensures that we can attract and retain key leaders while ensuring that each is incentivized to deliver optimal results for the Company.

Objectives of the Compensation Programs

The goals of our compensation programs are to ensure that the interests of our employees, including our named executive officers, are aligned with the interests of our stockholders and our business goals, and that the total compensation paid to each of our named executive officers is fair, reasonable and competitive.

We provide our executive officers with a significant portion of their compensation through cash incentive compensation based upon the achievement of corporate objectives for the year, including our operational and individual performance metrics, as well as through equity compensation. In years before and including 2018, we granted these annual awards in the fourth quarter of our fiscal year. As such, in December 2018, the compensation committee approved the grant of time-vested stock options to each of our then-serving named executive officers in recognition of achievements and performance during 2018. Beginning for the 2019 performance year, however, we determined to grant annual equity awards in the first quarter following the performance year. As a result, in March 2020, the compensation committee granted time-vested stock options to each of our named executive officers based on each of their achievements and performance during 2019. Because of the shift in the timing of annual equity grants, there were no grants made to the named executive officers except for those related to executive promotions and new hires during 2019. Our programs were specifically designed to align named executive officer and stockholder interests as the amount of compensation a named executive officer receives will vary based on our corporate performance against objective corporate goals. In addition, our named executive

officers derive value from equity compensation from the appreciation of shares of our common stock, which in the future is likely to fluctuate based on our corporate performance in relation to corporate goals.

The Company, including its compensation committee and board of directors, considers a myriad of factors in making compensation decisions for future years. Among these factors are the current and expected national and international market conditions; Company's market value and financial position; and talent market, including the availability of, and demand for, particular skills and expertise. We will continue to take these factors into account as we make compensation decisions in 2020 and beyond.

Components and Objectives of the Compensation Program

The compensation programs for our executive officers are designed to provide the following:

Compensation Element	Objective	Features
Base salary	To attract and retain highly skilled executives.	Fixed component of pay to provide financial stability, based on responsibilities, experience, individual contributions and peer company data.
Annual cash incentive program	To promote and reward the achievement of key short-term strategic and business goals of the Company as well as individual performance; to motivate and attract executives.	Variable component of pay based on annual corporate and individual quantitative and qualitative goals.
Equity incentive compensation	To encourage executives and other employees to focus on long- term Company performance; to promote retention; to reward outstanding Company and individual performance.	Typically subject to multi-year vesting based on continued service or the achievement of pre-determined performance goals, and are primarily in the form of stock options and restricted stock units, the value of which depends on the performance of our common stock price, in order to align employee interests with those of our stockholders over the longer-term.

2019 Say-on-Pay Vote and Stockholder Engagement

At our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "2019 Annual Meeting"), our first Say-on-Pay proposal was approved, on an advisory basis, with approximately 72% support.

After the 2019 Annual Meeting, we engaged with our stockholders to better understand their perspective regarding, among other things, our executive compensation program, including our decisions and disclosures, and other governance practices. During the first quarter of 2020, we reached out to stockholders representing more than 70% of our outstanding common stock and certain proxy advisory firms to specifically request feedback on these matters. This stockholder outreach supplements our standard practice of engaging with stockholders on a regular basis as part of our investor relations program, during which we are open to discuss any topic or issue raised by our stockholders, including, but not limited to, our business strategy, status of research and development programs, our executive compensation program and general corporate governance topics. Following our Say-on-Pay stockholder outreach effort, we engaged with stockholders who expressed interest and availability to provide feedback on calls. Our Company was represented by certain of our named executive officers, along with other senior managers and employees in our legal, human resources, and investor relations functions. Other stockholders whom we contacted either declined the invitation indicating a meeting was unnecessary at this time or did not respond.

Through the Say-on-Pay stockholder engagement outreach, we also received feedback on other corporate governance matters. The governance topics discussed include board composition and diversity, classified board elections, stockholder voting thresholds relating to director election, corporate actions and other matters. Among the actions taken in response to the feedback, we have updated the board of directors and Company's disclosure on diversity, including highlighting our commitment to consider gender and non-gender diversity as a factor when evaluating candidates to our board of directors and senior management team. Currently, twenty percent (20%) of our named executive officers are gender diverse and forty percent (40%) are ethnically diverse. With respect to our executive and senior vice presidents, sixty-six percent (66%) are gender diverse and fifty-five percent (55%) are racially or ethnically diverse. Regarding the other governance feedback received, after discussion and consideration, the nominating and corporate governance committee and, at its recommendation, the board of directors determined that the Company and its stockholders are, at this time, best served by maintaining the current classified board structure and stockholder voting standards. However, the nominating and

corporate governance committee and the board of directors are committed to regularly consider these governance matters to determine whether they remain in the best interest of the Company's stockholders.

The principal focus of the stockholder feedback received related to the compensation of our named executive officers and related disclosures. In response to the feedback, we took the following actions;

- · enhanced our disclosure regarding peer selection and executive compensation market analysis;
- improved descriptions of compensation process and decisions regarding all named executive officers; and
- increased disclosure on our short-term incentive program and the objectives considered in determining short-term cash incentive payments.

In addition, we continue to evaluate other feedback received to determine what actions are appropriate and in the best interest of our stockholders and the Company, including the timing and scope of any potential actions.

Compensation Program Governance

In addition to our direct compensation elements, the following features of our compensation program are designed to align our executive team with stockholder interests and with market best practices:

	What We Do	What We Don't Do			
1	Maintain an industry-specific peer group for benchmarking compensation	\times Allow short sales or margin calls of equity or non-approved or pledging	hedging		
1	Target compensation based on market norms	× Allow for re-pricing of stock options without stockholder a	pproval		
1	Deliver executive compensation primarily through performance-based pay	× Provide excessive perquisites			
,	Offer market-competitive benefits to executives that are consistent with	× Provide supplemental executive retirement plans			
/	the rest of our employees	× Provide tax gross-up payments for any change-of-control payments			

- Consult with an independent compensation expert on current compensation data, levels and practices for our industry, location and corporate characteristics
- Require our named executive officers and any other executive vice presidents to maintain specified levels of stock ownership
- × Provide cash or equity severance compensation upon a change in control unless employment is terminated (i.e., requires a "double trigger").

Role of the Compensation Committee in Setting Executive Compensation

Our board of directors and its compensation committee annually review the compensation for each of our executive officers in relation to our peers (see "Defining and Comparing Compensation to Market Benchmarks" section below). In setting executive cash compensation (base salaries and incentive cash bonuses) and granting equity incentive awards, the compensation committee and the board of directors consider compensation for comparable positions in the market; the qualifications, experience and historical compensation levels of our executives; each officer's individual performance as compared to our expectations and objectives; our desire to motivate the executive to achieve short- and long-term results that are in the best interests of our stockholders; and the desire and need to ensure the executive's long-term commitment to our Company. The compensation committee and the board of directors generally target compensation for each executive officer to be competitive with the compensation provided by our peers for the same or a similar position. They use independent third-party benchmark analytics to inform compensation decision on each executive, including the mix of base salary, bonus and long-term incentives.

Our board of directors or our compensation committee has historically determined the compensation of each of our executives. Our compensation committee typically reviews and discusses management's proposed compensation with the chief executive officer for all executives other than the chief executive officer. Based on those discussions and its discretion, taking into account the factors noted above as well as considerations specific to each executive officer (including, but not limited to, each executive officers'

experience, education, and responsibilities), the compensation committee then approves, or recommends to the board of directors for approval, the compensation for each executive officer. Compensation determinations for our executive officers are made without members of management present. In 2019, the compensation committee retained the services of Radford, which is part of the Rewards Solutions practice at Aon plc ("Radford"), as its external compensation consultant, and the board of directors and the compensation committee considered Radford's data, analysis and recommendation on certain compensation matters as they deemed appropriate.

Role of the Compensation Consultant

We develop our compensation programs after reviewing publicly available compensation data and subscription survey data for our peer group, provided by Radford. For 2019, our compensation committee engaged Radford as its independent compensation consultant, to advise on executive compensation matters including: overall compensation program design (including our performance-based equity award program), peer group development and updates, and director and executive compensation benchmarking. Radford reports directly to our compensation committee. Our compensation committee has assessed the independence of Radford consistent with Nasdaq listing standards and has concluded that the engagement of Radford does not raise any conflict of interest.

Defining and Comparing Compensation to Market Benchmarks

In evaluating the total compensation of our named executive officers, our compensation committee, using information provided by Radford, establishes a peer group of publicly traded companies in the biopharmaceutical and biotechnology industries that is selected based on a balance of the following criteria:

- companies whose location, strategic focus, number of employees, development stage and market capitalization are similar, though not necessarily identical, to ours;
- companies with similar executive positions to ours;
- companies against which we believe we compete for executive and employee talent; and
- public companies generally based in the United States ("U.S") whose compensation and financial data are available in proxy statements or through widely available compensation surveys.

Based on these criteria, our peer group for 2019, as approved by our compensation committee, was comprised of the following 16 companies:

Atara Biotherapeutics, Inc.	CytomX Therapeutics, Inc.	REGENXBIO, Inc.
Audentes Therapeutics, Inc.	Denali Therapeutics, Inc.	Sangamo Therapeutics, Inc.
bluebird bio, Inc.	Editas Medicine, Inc.	Voyager Therapeutics, Inc.
Blueprint Medicines Corp.	Epizyme, Inc.	Wave Life Sciences Ltd.
Cellectis S.A.	Five Prime Therapeutics, Inc.	Xencor, Inc.
CRISPR Therapeutics AG		

We believe that the compensation practices of our 2019 peer group provided us with appropriate publicly available compensation data for evaluating the competitiveness of the compensation of our named executive officers during 2019.

Notwithstanding any potential similarities with the 2019 peer group, due to the nature of our business, we compete for executive talent with many public companies that are larger and more established than we are or that possess greater resources than we do, and with smaller private companies that may be able to offer greater equity compensation potential. Our compensation committee generally targets cash compensation for our executive officers at approximately the 50^{th} percentile of our peer group and long-term incentive compensation at the $50^{th} - 60^{th}$ percentile of our peer group. Although the compensation committee and the board of directors target compensation per the above, they also consider other criteria, including market factors and the experience level of the executive and the executive's performance against established Company goals, in determining variations to this general target range.

Other Key Performance Factors in Determining Executive Compensation

As the biopharmaceutical industry is characterized by a very long product development cycle, including a lengthy research and development period and a rigorous approval phase involving clinical studies and governmental regulatory and marketing approval, many of the traditional benchmarking metrics, such as product sales, revenues and profits are inappropriate for an early stage

biopharmaceutical company such as Intellia. Instead, the specific performance factors our compensation committee considers when determining the compensation of our named executive officers include:

- key research and development achievements;
- initiation and progress of preclinical and clinical studies for our product candidates;
- · establishment and maintenance of key strategic relationships and new business initiatives, including financings; and
- development of organizational capabilities to manage, protect and sustain our operational and strategic execution and growth, including human resources initiatives to recruit, retain and develop our employees; IP protection enhancements; and the implementation and adequacy of financial, compliance, informational technology (including cybersecurity), communications and other key capabilities and systems.

These performance factors are considered by our compensation committee and board of directors in connection with our annual performance reviews described below and are a critical component in the determination of annual cash and equity incentive awards for our executives.

2019 Base Salary

We provide base salaries to our named executive officers to compensate them with a fair and competitive base level of compensation for services rendered during the year. Prior to making its decision, our compensation committee typically reviews and discusses management's proposed compensation with the chief executive officer for all executives other than the chief executive officer.

Effective January 1, 2019, our compensation committee approved merit increases in base salary for each of our then-serving named executive officers. The table below sets forth the adjustments to base salary for each of our named executive officers:

Name	2018 Base Salary (\$)	2019 Base Salary (\$)	% Increase over 2018
John M. Leonard, M.D.	550,000	559,200	1.7%
Glenn G. Goddard	380,000	383,000	0.8%
José E. Rivera, J.D.	417,200	423,800	1.6%
Andrew D. Schiermeier, Ph.D. (1)	415,000	440,000	6.0%
Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D. (2)	_	400,000	_

- (1) Dr. Schiermeier was promoted to executive vice president, chief operating officer from executive vice president, development and corporate strategy effective July 10, 2019. His base salary of \$440,000 became effective as of that date; his base salary from January 1, 2019 to July 10, 2019 was \$430,000.
- (2) Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino was appointed as executive vice president, chief scientific officer effective May 28, 2019.

2019 Annual Cash Incentive Program

Our compensation committee aims to determine an appropriate mix of cash payments and equity incentive awards to incentivize each executive to meet short- and long-term goals and objectives. In December 2018, our compensation committee approved the annual performance-based cash incentive program for 2019, including the opportunity for eligible participants to achieve incentive awards above established bonus targets based on the Company's performance against 2019 corporate goals.

The table below shows the target award under the annual performance-based cash incentive program as a percentage of each named executive officer's annual base salary in 2019, the target cash award opportunity in dollars for 2019 and the actual cash bonus payments to our named executive officers for 2019 performance, which were paid in February 2020, as well as the actual bonus payment as a percentage of the target award opportunity. The details regarding the determination of these cash bonus awards are discussed below.

Name	2019 Target Cash Incentive Award (% of 2019 Base Salary)	2019 Target Cash Incentive Award Opportunity (\$)	2019 Cash Incentive Award Payment (\$)	Actual Cash Incentive Award Payment (% of 2019 Target Cash Incentive Award Opportunity)
John M. Leonard, M.D.	55%	307,560	307,560	100%
Glenn G. Goddard	40%	153,200	153,200	100%
José E. Rivera, J.D.	40%	169,520	169,520	100%
Andrew D. Schiermeier, Ph.D.	40%	176,000	167,200	95%
Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D.	40%	94,624 (1)	104,086	110%

2019

(1) Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino was appointed as executive vice president, chief scientific officer effective May 28, 2019. Her target and actual cash incentive bonus amounts were pro-rated to reflect her start date. Further, Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino was awarded a bonus equal to 110% of target to reward her for her exceptional performance and contributions in achieving our corporate goals in 2019.

Under the 2019 annual performance-based cash incentive program, awards were determined by the following formula:

Base Salary	X	Target Bonus	\mathbf{X}	Proration	\mathbf{X}	Individual	\mathbf{X}	Corporate	=	Annual Performance-based Cash
		Percentage				Achievement		Achievement		Bonus Earned
						(0-125%)		(0-150%)		

Dr. Leonard's 2019 bonus was entirely based on his leadership and execution in ensuring that the Company met its corporate goals for the year. Messrs. Goddard and Rivera and Drs. Schiermeier and Sepp-Lorenzino's individual performance in 2019 was considered when determining their overall performance and final award. The compensation committee determines each named executive officer's individual performance by considering the performance relative to the executive officer's functional attainments and impact on corporate goals, as well as other factors related to conformance with the Company's core values and policies and the expected competencies and skills for the executive's job.

Based on these considerations, the compensation committee determined that Messrs. Goddard and Rivera achieved 100% of target for their overall performance. The compensation committee determined that Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino achieved 110% of her target for her overall performance due to exceptional performance in 2019, and that Dr. Schiermeier achieved 95% of his target for his overall performance because, although he made significant contributions to the Company in 2019, he did not fully achieve all of his individual goals.

In making its determination regarding awards under the 2019 annual performance-based cash incentive program, our compensation committee considered our success against our 2019 corporate goals. The 2019 corporate goals approved by our board of directors and compensation committee, the relative weightings assigned to each goal at the beginning of the year, our actual achievement during the performance period as a percentage of target and the weighted performance against these corporate goals for 2019, as approved by our compensation committee, were as follows:

MMG 6 16 !	Relative	Actual Achievement
2019 Corporate Goal Categories	Weighting	for 2019 (%)
Develop Curative CRISPR-Based Medicines	40%	40%
Advance our Science	30%	30%
Build for Long-Term Sustainability	15%	15%
Be the Best Place to Make Therapies	15%	15%

The compensation committee determined that the Company's performance did not exceed its corporate goals and, accordingly, the relative weight of the goals would not be modified upwards in 2019 by a target-based pre-established aggregate range of up to 50%.

Specific achievements in relation to our goals in 2019 include the following:

Develop Curative CRISPR-Based Medicines:

- We initiated investigational new drug ("IND")-enabling toxicology studies and established supply chain operations to support manufacturing of
 Phase 1 materials for our lead *in vivo* product candidate, NTLA-2001, for the treatment of transthyretin amyloidosis ("ATTR"). We remained on
 track to file an IND application for NTLA-2001 in mid-2020, which we expect to be the first *in vivo* systemically delivered CRISPR/Cas9-based
 therapy to enter the clinic.
- We nominated our first wholly owned *ex vivo* development candidate, NTLA-5001, a T cell receptor ("TCR")-based therapy that uses engineered T cells to target Wilms' Tumor 1 ("WT1") for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia.
- We met our commitments to our partners, including supporting Novartis' IND application for a treatment for Sickle Cell Disease, for which we announced acceptance in March 2020.

Advance our Science:

- We demonstrated the first CRISPR-mediated, targeted transgene insertion in the liver of non-human primates. Using our proprietary lipid nanoparticle ("LNP")-adeno-associated virus ("AAV") hybrid delivery system, we achieved targeted insertion of the *Factor 9* gene that generated circulating human Factor IX protein at or above normal levels.
- We were the first to demonstrate consecutive in vivo gene knockout followed by a targeted insertion in an alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency mouse model.

Build for Long-Term Sustainability:

- We expanded our IP portfolio in the U.S. and Europe.
- We ended 2019 with a strong cash position of \$284 million, which extended our cash runway through end of year 2021.

Be the Best Place to make Therapies:

We implemented leadership and managerial training sessions for all managers in the Company, including executive leadership, worked with
employees to create personal development plans, and sponsored organized activities for all employees ranging from cultural events to community
volunteer activities.

Long-Term Incentives

Our long-term incentive program is designed to:

- · reward demonstrated leadership and performance;
- align our named executive officers' interests with those of our stockholders;
- retain our named executive officers through the term of the awards;
- · maintain competitive levels of executive compensation; and
- motivate our named executive officers for outstanding future performance.

The market for qualified and talented executives in the biopharmaceutical industry is highly competitive and we compete for talent with many companies that have greater resources than we do. Accordingly, we believe equity compensation is a crucial component of any competitive executive compensation package we offer.

Historically, our equity awards have generally taken the form of stock options. We typically grant stock options to each of our executive officers upon commencement of employment, annually in conjunction with our review of individual and corporate performance, in connection with a promotion or as a special incentive.

All stock option awards to our executive officers are approved by our compensation committee and, other than stock option awards to new hires or for promotions, are typically granted annually. In years before and including 2018, we granted these annual awards in the fourth quarter of our fiscal year. However, beginning for the 2019 performance year, we granted, and plan to continue to grant annual awards in the first quarter following the performance year. As such, there were no grants made to the named executive officers except

for those related to executive promotions and new hires during 2019. The compensation committee approved the grant in March 2020 of time-vested stock options to each of our named executive officers in recognition of achievements and performance during 2019.

Stock option awards may vary among our executive officers based on their functional responsibilities and annual performance assessments. In addition, our compensation committee reviews all components of an executive's compensation to ensure that his or her total compensation is consistent with our overall philosophy and objectives. All stock options granted by the Company, including those made to our executives, have exercise prices equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant, so that the recipient will not recognize any value from his or her stock options unless our share price increases above the exercise price. Accordingly, this portion of our executive officers' compensation is at risk and is directly aligned with stockholder value creation.

In addition, the stock options granted to our executive officers, including our named executive officers, typically vest over four years. Generally, the stock options we grant to our executives have a ten-year term and vest as to 25% of the shares on the first anniversary of the grant date and then, as to the remainder, monthly thereafter in substantially equal installments until the fourth anniversary of the grant date. Vesting generally ceases upon termination of service to the Company and exercise rights typically cease three months following termination of service, except in the case of death or disability, or if otherwise modified pursuant to an agreement approved by the compensation committee or the board of directors as described in the "Benefits and Other Compensation" section below. Prior to the exercise of an option, the option holder does not have any rights as a stockholder with respect to the shares subject to such option, including voting rights or the right to receive dividends or dividend equivalents. Because the Company is still in its pre-clinical research stage and after consulting with its independent compensation consultant, the compensation committee historically has granted time-based vesting stock options to its employees, including the named executive officers. The compensation committee, however, regularly considers whether equity awards subject to vesting based on the achievement of specified performance metrics should be incorporated into our annual equity compensation program and, on occasion as appropriate, has granted performance-based stock options to employees, including some of the named executive officers.

New Hire and Promotion Grants

In April 2019, in connection with the hiring of Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino as executive vice president, chief scientific officer, our compensation committee approved the grant of a time-vested stock options under our Amended and Restated 2015 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the "2015 Plan") to her. In July 2019, in connection with his promotion to executive vice president, chief operating officer, the compensation committee approved a time-based stock option grant to Dr. Schiermeier.

The following table sets forth the number of shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of time-based stock options granted to our named executive officers in 2019:

Name	Grant Date	Option Award (# Shares)
John M. Leonard, M.D.	_	_
Glenn G. Goddard	_	_
José E. Rivera, J.D.	_	_
Andrew D. Schiermeier, Ph.D.	8/1/2019	55,000
Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D.	6/3/2019	150,000

Benefits and Other Compensation

Other compensation to our executives consists primarily of the broad-based benefits we offer to all regular full-time employees, including medical, dental and vision insurance, medical and dependent care flexible spending accounts, group life and disability insurance, an employee stock purchase plan and a 401(k) plan. Named executive officers are eligible to participate in all our employee benefit plans, in each case on the same basis as other employees. Pursuant to our employee stock purchase plan, employees, including our named executive officers, have an opportunity to purchase our common stock at a discount on a tax-qualified basis through payroll deductions. The employee stock purchase plan is designed to qualify as an "employee stock purchase plan" under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code (the "Code"). The purpose of the employee stock purchase plan is to encourage our employees, including our named executive officers, to become our stockholders and better align their interests with those of our other stockholders.

Our tax-qualified 401(k) plan provides eligible employees with an opportunity to save for retirement on a tax-advantaged deferred basis or as Roth deferrals. All eligible and participating employees receive a 401(k)-match competitive with other companies in our industry. All participants' interests in their deferred contributions and associated Company match are 100% vested when deposited. All contributions are allocated to each participant's individual account and are then invested in selected investment alternatives according to each participant's directions. The retirement plan is intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code.

Currently, we do not view perquisites or other personal benefits as a significant component of our executive compensation program. Accordingly, we do not provide perquisites to our named executive officers, except in situations where we believe it is appropriate to assist an individual in the performance of his or her duties, to make him or her more efficient and effective, and for recruitment and retention purposes. In the future, we may provide perquisites or other personal benefits in limited circumstances, such as where we believe it is appropriate to assist an individual named executive officer in the performance of his or her duties, to make him or her more efficient and effective, and for recruitment, motivation or retention purposes.

Our named executive officers are entitled, upon a qualifying termination, to certain severance and/or change in control protections pursuant to their employment agreements. See below for a chart detailing the general terms of these protections.

Executive Benefits and Payment upon Termination	Termination by Company without Cause or Voluntary Resignation for Good Reason Not in Connection with a Change in Control	Termination by Company without Cause or Voluntary Resignation for Good Reason within 24 Months Following a Change in Control
John M. Leonard, M.D.		
Cash Severance	12 months of base salary continuation	Lump sum equal to 2x the sum of base salary + target bonus
Acceleration of Equity Awards	Outstanding awards that would have vested in the following 12 months	
Health Care Continuation	12 months continuation	18 months continuation
All other named executive officers		
Cash Severance	9 months of base salary continuation	Lump sum equal to 1.5x the sum of base salary + target bonus
Acceleration of Equity Awards	Outstanding awards that would have vested in the following 9 months	
Health Care Continuation	9 months continuation	18 months continuation

We do not offer any defined benefit pension plans or nonqualified deferred compensation arrangements for our employees, including our named executive officers.

Tax and Accounting Considerations

Deductibility of Executive Compensation

Generally, Section 162(m) of the Code ("Section 162(m)") disallows a federal income tax deduction for public corporations of remuneration in excess of \$1 million paid in any fiscal year to certain specified executive officers. For taxable years beginning before January 1, 2018 (i) these executive officers consisted of a public corporation's principal executive officer and up to three other executive officers (other than the principal financial officer) whose compensation is required to be disclosed to stockholders under the Exchange Act, because they are our most highly-compensated executive officers and (ii) qualifying "performance-based compensation" was not subject to this deduction limit if specified requirements are met.

Pursuant to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017, the remuneration of a public corporation's principal financial officer is also subject to the deduction limit. In addition, subject to certain transition rules (which apply to remuneration provided pursuant to written binding contracts which were in effect on November 2, 2017 and which are not subsequently materially modified), for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017, the exemption from the deduction limit for "performance-based compensation" is no longer available. Consequently, for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2017, all remuneration in excess of \$1 million paid to a specified executive will not be deductible.

In designing our executive compensation program and determining the compensation of our executive officers, including our named executive officers, the compensation committee considers a variety of factors, including the potential impact of the Section 162(m) deduction limit. However, the compensation committee will not necessarily limit executive compensation to that which is or may be deductible under Section 162(m). The compensation committee will consider various alternatives to preserving the deductibility of compensation payments and benefits to the extent consistent with its compensation goals. The compensation committee believes that our stockholders' interests are best served if its discretion and flexibility in awarding compensation is not restricted, even though some compensation may result in non-deductible compensation expense.

Taxation of "Parachute" Payments

Sections 280G and 4999 of the Code provide that executive officers and directors who hold significant equity interests and certain other service providers may be subject to significant additional taxes if they receive payments or benefits in connection with a change in control of the Company that exceeds certain prescribed limits, and that the Company (or a successor) may forfeit a deduction on the amounts subject to this additional tax. We have not agreed to provide any executive officer, including any named executive officer, with a "gross-up" or other reimbursement payment for any tax liability that the executive officer might owe as a result of the application of Sections 280G or 4999 of the Code.

Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code

Section 409A of the Code imposes additional significant taxes in the event that an executive officer, director or service provider receives "deferred compensation" that does not satisfy the requirements of Section 409A of the Code. Although we do not maintain a nonqualified deferred compensation plan, Section 409A of the Code may apply to certain severance arrangements, bonus arrangements and equity awards. We aim to structure all our severance arrangements, bonus arrangements and equity awards in a manner to either avoid the application of Section 409A or, to the extent doing so is not possible, to comply with the applicable requirements of Section 409A of the Code.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

We follow Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 718 ("FASB ASC 718") for our stock-based compensation awards. FASB ASC 718 requires us to measure the compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to our employees and non-employee members of our board of directors, including options to purchase shares of our common stock and other stock awards, based on the grant date "fair value" of these awards. This calculation is performed for accounting purposes and reported in the executive compensation tables required by the federal securities laws, even though the recipient of the awards may never realize any value from their awards.

Compensation Risk Assessment

We believe that our executive compensation program does not encourage excessive or unnecessary risk taking. As described more fully above, we structure our pay to consist of both fixed and variable compensation, particularly in connection with our pay-for-performance compensation philosophy. We believe this structure motivates our executives to produce superior short- and long-term results that are in the best interests of our Company and stockholders in order to attain our ultimate objective of increasing stockholder value, and we have established, and our compensation committee endorses, several controls to address and mitigate compensation-related risk. As a result, we do not believe that our compensation programs are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on us.

EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Executive Officer Compensation

2019 Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth the total compensation awarded to, earned by and paid during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019, December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 for each of our named executive officers.

		Salary	Bonus	Option Awards	Stock Awards	All Other Compensation	Total
Name and Principal Position	Year	(\$)	(\$)(1)	(\$)(2)	(\$)(3)	(\$)(4)	(\$)
John M. Leonard, M.D.	2019	559,200	307,560	_	_	37,026	903,786
President, Chief Executive Officer	2018	550,000	302,500	7,818,005	1,011,713	26,112	9,708,330
	2017	395,833	156,170	2,024,297	_	16,574	2,592,874
Glenn G. Goddard (5) Executive Vice President, Chief	2019	383,000	153,200	_	_	5,644	541,844
Financial Officer	2018	67,718	51,652	1,896,825	_	218	2,016,413
José E. Rivera, J.D.	2019	423,800	169,520	_	_	44,329	637,649
Executive Vice President, General Counsel	2018	417,200	166,880	1,688,358	337,238	37,220	2,646,896
	2017	403,750	180,711	2,234,549	_	34,049	2,853,059
Andrew D. Schiermeier, Ph.D.	2019	440,000	167,200	611,897	_	8,778	1,227,875
Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	2018	408,934	182,600	2,028,554	295,550	9,668	2,925,306
Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D. (6) Executive Vice President, Chief Scientific Officer	2019	239,487	204,086	1,318,695	_	221	1,762,489

- (1) The 2019 amounts reflect the annual bonus paid in 2020 for performance in 2019, as discussed under the "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" section's 2019 Annual Cash Incentive Program, as well as a \$100,000 sign-on bonus paid to Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino pursuant to the terms of her employment agreement.
- (2) The amounts reflect the grant date fair value for time-based and performance-based stock option awards granted during the applicable year. The grant date fair value was computed in accordance with FASB ASC 718, disregarding the effect of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting. For performance-based stock options, the value reported reflects the value of the award at the grant date based upon the probable outcome of the performance conditions, which is assumed to be the maximum level of achievement. See note 11 to the financial statements in our 2019 Annual Report regarding assumptions we made in determining the fair value of option awards.
- (3) The amounts reflect the grant date fair value for performance-based restricted stock unit awards granted during the applicable year. The grant date fair value was computed in accordance with FASB ASC 718, disregarding the effect of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting. The value reported reflects the value of the award at the grant date based upon the probable outcome of the performance conditions, which is assumed to be the maximum level of achievement. See note 11 to the financial statements in our 2019 Annual Report regarding assumptions we made in determining the fair value of stock awards.
- (4) The amounts reported for 2019 represent (i) life insurance premiums paid on behalf of each of the named executive officers, (ii) 401(k) match, (iii) \$28,248 and \$19,314 in expenses related to travel between Dr. Leonard's, and Mr. Rivera's home office and our headquarters in Massachusetts, respectively, and (iv) \$16,237 in lodging expenses for Mr. Rivera in Massachusetts.
- (5) Mr. Goddard was appointed executive vice president, chief financial officer effective October 29, 2018. His annualized base salary for 2018 was \$380.000.
- (6) Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino joined us as executive vice president, chief scientific officer effective May 28, 2019. Her annualized base salary for 2019 was \$400,000.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table shows information regarding grants of plan-based awards during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 to the Company's named executive officers.

Name	Grant Date	All Other Option Awards: Number of Securities Underlying Options (#)(2)	Exercise or Base Price of Option Awards (\$/share)(3)	Grant Date Fair Value of Stock and Option Awards (\$)(4)
John M. Leonard, M.D. (1)	_		_	_
Glenn G. Goddard (1)	_	_	_	_
José E. Rivera, J.D. (1)	_	_	_	_
Andrew D. Schiermeier, Ph.D.	8/1/2019	55,000	18.09	611,897
Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D.	6/3/2019	150,000	14.25	1,318,695

- (1) In December 2018, the compensation committee approved the grant of time-based stock options to each of our then-serving named executive officers in recognition of achievements and performance during 2018 and, in March 2020, the compensation committee approved the grant of time-based stock options to each of our then-serving named executive officers in recognition of achievements and performance during 2019 As a result, there were no equity grants made to the named executive officers except for those noted in the table above during 2019, which were granted in connection with hire or promotion.
- (2) Represent options subject to time-based vesting criteria established by the compensation committee and described in the footnotes to the Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End table below.
- (3) The exercise price of these stock options is equal to the closing price of our common stock on the Nasdaq Global Market on the grant date.
- (4) Amounts represent the grant date fair value of the named executive officer's stock options, calculated in accordance with FASB ASC 718. For purposes of these calculations, we have disregarded the estimate of forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table presents information regarding all outstanding equity awards held by each of our named executive officers on December 31, 2019.

			Option Awards				Stock Awards					
Name	Grant Date	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Exercisable	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Unexercisable(1)	Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Unearned Options (#)(2)		Option Exercise Price (\$)	Option Expiration Date	Number of Shares or Units Not Vested (#)	Market Value of Shares or Units Not Vested (\$)	Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Number of Unearned Share Units or Other Rights That Have Not Vested (#)(2)	Market Value of Shares or Units Not Vested (\$)(3)	
John M. Leonard, M.D.	2/3/2016	335,641	14,593		-	6.83	2/2/2026					
	1/6/2017	69,270	25,730			13.88	1/5/2027					
	12/12/2017	36,250	36,250			18.30	12/11/2027					
	1/25/2018	105,416	114,584			22.78	1/24/2028					
	3/21/2018			86,250		23.46	3/20/2028			40.105	C22 C44	
	3/21/2018 12/18/2018	60,000	180,000			14.58	12/17/2028			43,125	632,644	
Glenn G. Goddard	11/1/2018	26,250	63,750			19.27	10/31/2028					
	11/1/2018	,		30,000	(4)	19.27	10/31/2028					
	12/18/2018	4,437	13,313			14.58	12/17/2028					
José E. Rivera, J.D.	2/3/2016	167,820	7,297			6.83	2/2/2026					
	1/6/2017	83,854	31,146			13.88	1/5/2027					
	12/12/2017	36,250	36,250			18.30	12/11/2027					
	1/25/2018 3/21/2018	11,979	13,021	28,750		22.78 23.46	1/24/2028 3/20/2028					
	3/21/2018			20,730		23.40	3/20/2020			14,375	210,881	
	12/18/2018	17,750	53,250			14.58	12/17/2028			1,,575	210,001	
Andrew D. Schiermeier, Ph.D.	1/3/2017			15,000	(5)	13.48	1/2/2027					
	1/3/2017	124,375	40,625			13.48	1/2/2027					
	12/12/2017	13,750	13,750			18.30	12/11/2027					
	5/1/2018	0.202	44400	28,750		20.56	4/30/2028					
	5/1/2018 5/1/2018	9,302	14,198			20.56	4/30/2028			14 275	210 001	
	12/18/2018	20,250	60,750			14.58	12/17/2028			14,375	210,881	
	8/1/2019	20,230	55,000			18.09	7/31/2029					
Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D.	6/3/2019		150,000			14.25	6/2/2029					

- (1) Except as otherwise noted, time-based stock options vest over four years, with 25% of the shares vesting on the first anniversary of the date of grant and the remainder vesting in 36 equal monthly installments over the following three years.
- (2) Except as otherwise noted, performance-based stock options and restricted stock units vest as follows, provided that the executive officer remains employed by the Company through the applicable vesting date: (a) 1/3 of the shares underlying the award vest on July 1, 2020 if we have commenced our first human dosing in one of our *in vivo* programs by such date; (b) 1/3 of the shares underlying the award vest on December 31, 2020 if we have commenced IND-enabling studies for one of our *in vivo* programs other than, and in addition to, ATTR and the program referred to in (a); and (c) 1/3 of the shares underlying the award vest on December 31, 2020 if, as of such date, the FDA has accepted an IND for one of our *ex vivo* programs.
- (3) Based on a price of \$14.67 per share, which was the closing price per share of our common stock as reported by the Nasdaq Global Market on December 31, 2019, the last trading day of 2019.
- (4) This stock option vests as follows provided that the executive officer remains employed by the Company through the applicable vesting date: 25% of the shares vest upon the occurrence of a financing, as defined in the applicable award agreement, within 18 months of October 29, 2018, with the remaining 75% of the shares vesting in equal monthly installments thereafter; provided, however, if the financing closes on or after October 29, 2019, then 25% plus 625 shares for each month between October 29, 2019 and the completion of the financing will vest immediately upon the completion of the financing, with the remainder of the shares vesting in equal monthly installments through the third anniversary of the completion of the financing.
- (5) In April 2018, the compensation committee modified the performance vesting conditions of certain performance-based stock options granted to Dr. Schiermeier in 2017 to reflect changes in his responsibilities from senior vice president, eXtellia, which focused solely on the Company's *ex vivo* research efforts, to his promotion to executive vice president, corporate strategy, which expanded his responsibilities to also include development and execution of the corporate-wide research, development and commercialization strategy, as well as business development and alliance management. Under these modified terms, this stock option grant was to vest upon the successful progression of the Company's first *ex vivo* product candidate designation by January 1, 2020, provided that Dr. Schiermeier remained employed by the Company through the applicable vesting date. These options

vested on January 1, 2020 upon nomination of NTLA-5001 as our first engineered T cell therapy development candidate for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested

There were no exercises of stock options or vesting of stock awards for any of the named executive officers during the year ended December 31, 2019.

Employment, Severance and Change in Control Arrangements

During 2019, we did not amend or restate employment agreements that were in place as of January 1, 2019 with any of our named executive officers. In May 2019, we entered into an employment agreement, of similar form to the then-existing named executive officers, with Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino in connection with her hire. Each of our named executive officers is employed at will. The material terms of the employment agreements with our named executive officers are summarized below.

John M. Leonard, *M.D.* Dr. Leonard currently receives an annual base salary of \$580,000, which is subject to review and adjustment in accordance with Company policy. Dr. Leonard is also eligible for an annual incentive bonus targeted at 55% of his base salary. Dr. Leonard is also eligible to participate in employee benefit plans generally available to all of our employees, subject to the terms of those plans.

Glenn G. Goddard Mr. Goddard currently receives an annual base salary of \$407,000, which is subject to review and adjustment in accordance with Company policy. Mr. Goddard is also eligible for an annual incentive bonus targeted at 40% of his base salary. Mr. Goddard is also eligible to participate in employee benefit plans generally available to all of our employees, subject to the terms of those plans.

José E. Rivera, *J.D.* Mr. Rivera currently receives an annual base salary of \$432,250, which is subject to review and adjustment in accordance with Company policy. Mr. Rivera is also eligible for an annual incentive bonus targeted at 40% of his base salary. Mr. Rivera is also eligible to participate in employee benefit plans generally available to all of our employees, subject to the terms of those plans.

Andrew D. Schiermeier, *Ph.D.* Dr. Schiermeier currently receives an annual base salary of \$455,400, which is subject to review and adjustment in accordance with Company policy. Dr. Schiermeier is also eligible for an annual incentive bonus targeted at 40% of his base salary. Dr. Schiermeier is also eligible to participate in employee benefit plans generally available to all of our employees, subject to the terms of those plans.

Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, *Ph.D.* Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino currently receives an annual base salary of \$420,000, which is subject to review and adjustment in accordance with Company policy. Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino is also eligible for an annual incentive bonus targeted at 40% of her base salary. Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino is also eligible to participate in employee benefit plans generally available to all of our employees, subject to the terms of those plans.

Each of our named executive officers has entered into a standard form agreement with respect to proprietary information and assignment of inventions. Among other things, this agreement obligates each named executive officer to refrain from disclosing any of our proprietary information received during the course of employment and to assign to us any inventions conceived or developed during the course of employment. With respect to Drs. Leonard and Schiermeier and Mr. Rivera, such agreement also provides that during the period of their employment and for six months thereafter, they will not compete with us and will not solicit our employees, consultants, customers or suppliers. Because of the Massachusetts non-compete law that became effective on, and applied to employees hired after, October 1, 2018, we separated the non-competition provisions from the other provisions in our standard form agreement. Accordingly, upon their respective employment commencement, we entered into the standard form agreement with Mr. Goddard and Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino with regards to proprietary information and assignment of inventions as previously described except that the agreement does not contain non-competition obligations. With regards to non-competition obligations, we entered into separate agreements with Mr. Goddard (on October 29, 2018) and Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino (on May 28, 2019) under which, as required by state law, we have agreed to pay each of them, respectively, 50% of his or her base salary if we decide to enforce the non-competition obligation following the period of his or her respective employment; provided that any severance payments Mr. Goddard or Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino would be entitled to receive will be reduced by the amount that Mr. Goddard or Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino is entitled to receive under his or her employment agreement (described below), respectively, if the non-competition agreement is enforced.

Pursuant to separate employment agreements with our named executive officers, if a named executive officer's employment is terminated by us without cause, as defined in the employment agreements, or by the named executive officer for good reason, as defined in the employment agreements, and subject to the execution and effectiveness of a separation agreement, including a general release of claims in our favor, the named executive officer will be entitled to receive: (i) an amount equal to 12 months of base salary in the case of Dr. Leonard, or nine months of base salary in the case of the other named executive officers, in each case, payable in substantially equal installments over the 12 or nine months following termination, as applicable, and (ii) if the named executive officer is participating in our group health plan immediately prior to his or her termination, we will continue to pay our portion of coverage until 12 months following termination in the case of Dr. Leonard, or nine months following termination in the case of the other named executive officers, or, if earlier, the end of the executive officer's COBRA health continuation period, in an amount equal to the amount that we would have made to provide health insurance to the executive officer had he or she remained employed with us. In addition, except as otherwise provided in the applicable award agreement, all equity awards held by the named executive officer or by entities to which the named executive officer has properly transferred such awards that would have vested in the 12-month period following termination in the case of Dr. Leonard or the nine-month period following termination in the case of the other named executive officers had the named executive officer remained employed by us during such period will accelerate and vest as of the date of termination. In lieu of the payments and benefits described above, in the event that the named executive officer's employment is terminated by us without cause or the named executive officer resigns for good reason, in either case within 24 months following a change in control, as defined in the employment agreements, subject to the execution and effectiveness of a separation agreement, including a general release of claims in our favor, the named executive officer will be entitled to receive (i) a lump sum cash payment equal to two times in the case of Dr. Leonard, or 1.5 times in the case of the other named executive officers, the sum of (A) the officer's then-current base salary, or the officer's base salary in effect immediately prior to the change in control, if higher, and (B) the officer's target annual cash incentive compensation for the then-current year, (ii) if the officer is participating in our group health plan immediately prior to his or her termination, we will continue to pay our portion of coverage until 18 months following termination or, if earlier, the end of the officer's COBRA health continuation period in an amount equal to the amount that we would have made to provide health insurance to him or her had he or she remained employed with us and (iii) except as otherwise provided in the applicable award agreement, (A) if the named executive officer was employed by the Company for at least six consecutive months immediately prior to the change in control, full acceleration of all equity awards held by the officer or by entities to whom the officer has properly transferred such awards or (B) if the named executive officer was employed by the Company for less than six consecutive months immediately prior to the change in control, acceleration of 50% of all equity awards held by the officer or by entities to whom the officer has properly transferred such awards.

Estimated Payment and Benefits Upon Termination or Change of Control

The amount of compensation and benefits payable to each named executive officer who was employed on December 31, 2019 under our current employment agreements in various termination and change in control situations has been estimated in the tables below. The value of the equity vesting acceleration was calculated for each of the tables below based on the assumption that the change in control and the named executive officer's employment termination occurred on December 31, 2019. The per share closing price of the Company's stock on the Nasdaq Global Market as of December 31, 2019 was \$14.67, which was used as the value of a share of the Company's stock in the change in control for the calculations below. The value of the option vesting acceleration was calculated by multiplying the number of shares underlying unvested options subject to vesting acceleration as of December 31, 2019, by the difference between the per share closing price of the Company's stock as of December 31, 2019, and the per share exercise price for such shares underlying unvested options. The value of restricted stock unit vesting acceleration was calculated by multiplying the number of unvested restricted stock units subject to vesting acceleration as of December 31, 2019, by the per share closing price of the Company's stock as of December 31, 2019.

John M. Leonard, M.D.

The following table describes the potential payments and benefits upon employment termination for Dr. Leonard, as if his employment terminated as of December 31, 2019.

Executive Benefits and Payment upon Termination	Resignation For Good Reason Not in Connection with a Change in Control (\$)	Termination by Company without Cause Not in Connection with a Change in Control (\$)	Termination by Company without Cause or Voluntary Resignation for Good Reason within 24 Months Following a Change in Control (\$)
Compensation:			
Cash Severance	559,200 (1)	559,200 (1)	1,733,520 (2)
Acceleration of Equity Awards	138,572 (3)	138,572 (3)	783,580 (4)
Health Care Continuation	— (5)	— (5)	— (5)
Total	697,772	697,772	2,517,100

- (1) Base salary continuation for 12 months.
- (2) Two times the sum of (a) 2019 base salary, and (b) 2019 target annual cash incentive compensation.
- (3) Value attributable to 12 months of acceleration of outstanding equity awards.
- (4) Value attributable to acceleration of 100% of outstanding equity awards.
- (5) Dr. Leonard was not participating in our group health plan immediately prior to December 31, 2019.

Glenn G. Goddard

The following table describes the potential payments and benefits upon employment termination for Mr. Goddard, as if his employment terminated as of December 31, 2019.

Executive Benefits and Payment upon Termination	Resignation For Good Reason Not in Connection with a Change in Control (\$)	Termination by Company without Cause Not in Connection with a Change in Control (\$)	Termination by Company without Cause or Voluntary Resignation for Good Reason within 24 Months Following a Change in Control (\$)
Compensation:			
Cash Severance	287,250 (1)	287,250 (1)	804,300 (2)
Acceleration of Equity Awards	300 (3)	300 (3)	1,198 (4)
Health Care Continuation	16,565 (5)	16,565 (5)	33,129 (6)
Total	304,115	304,115	838,627

- (1) Base salary continuation for nine months.
- (2) One and a half times the sum of (a) 2019 base salary, and (b) 2019 target annual cash incentive compensation.
- (3) Value attributable to nine months of acceleration of outstanding equity awards.
- (4) Value attributable to acceleration of 100% of outstanding equity awards.
- (5) Payment of the COBRA health insurance premiums until the earlier of (a) nine months following the date of termination, or (b) the end of the COBRA health continuation period.
- (6) Payment of the COBRA health insurance premiums until the earlier of (a) 18 months following the date of termination, or (b) the end of the COBRA health continuation period.

José E. Rivera, J.D.

The following table describes the potential payments and benefits upon employment termination for Mr. Rivera, as if his employment terminated as of December 31, 2019.

Executive Benefits and Payment upon Termination	Resignation For Good Reason Not in Connection with a Change in Control (\$)	Termination by Company without Cause Not in Connection with a Change in Control (\$)	Termination by Company without Cause or Voluntary Resignation for Good Reason within 24 Months Following a Change in Control (\$)
Compensation:	247.050 (4)	217.050 (1)	000 000 (2)
Cash Severance	317,850 (1)	317,850 (1)	889,980 (2)
Acceleration of Equity Awards	75,441 (3)	75,441 (3)	297,488 (4)
Health Care Continuation	16,565 (5)	16,565 (5)	33,129 (6)
Total	409,856	409,856	1,220,597

- (1) Base salary continuation for nine months.
- (2) One and a half times the sum of (a) 2019 base salary, and (b) 2019 target annual cash incentive compensation.
- (3) Value attributable to nine months of acceleration of outstanding equity awards.
- (4) Value attributable to acceleration of 100% of outstanding equity awards.
- (5) Payment of the COBRA health insurance premiums until the earlier of (a) nine months following the date of termination, or (b) the end of the COBRA health continuation period.
- (6) Payment of the COBRA health insurance premiums until the earlier of (a) 18 months following the date of termination, or (b) the end of the COBRA health continuation period.

Andrew D. Schiermeier, Ph.D.

The following table describes the potential payments and benefits upon employment termination for Dr. Schiermeier, as if his employment terminated as of December 31, 2019.

Executive Benefits and Payment upon Termination	Resignation For Good Reason Not in Connection with a Change in Control (\$)	Termination by Company without Cause Not in Connection with a Change in Control (\$)	Termination by Company without Cause or Voluntary Resignation for Good Reason within 24 Months Following a Change in Control (\$)
Compensation:			
Cash Severance	330,000 (1)	330,000 (1)	924,000 (2)
Acceleration of Equity Awards	52,686 (3)	52,686 (3)	282,543 (4)
Health Care Continuation	16,565 (5)	16,565 (5)	33,129 (6)
Total	399,251	399,251	1,239,672

- (1) Base salary continuation for nine months.
- (2) One and a half times the sum of (a) 2019 base salary, and (b) 2019 target annual cash incentive compensation.
- (3) Value attributable to nine months of acceleration of outstanding equity awards.
- (4) Value attributable to acceleration of 100% of outstanding equity awards.
- (5) Payment of the COBRA health insurance premiums until the earlier of (a) nine months following the date of termination, or (b) the end of the COBRA health continuation period.
- (6) Payment of the COBRA health insurance premiums until the earlier of (a) 18 months following the date of termination, or (b) the end of the COBRA health continuation period.

Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D.

The following table describes the potential payments and benefits upon employment termination for Dr. Sepp-Lorenzino, as if her employment terminated as of December 31, 2019.

Executive Benefits and Payment upon Termination	Resignation For Good Reason Not in Connection with a Change in Control (\$)	Termination by Company without Cause Not in Connection with a Change in Control (\$)	Termination by Company without Cause or Voluntary Resignation for Good Reason within 24 Months Following a Change in Control (\$)
Compensation:			
Cash Severance	300,000 (1)	300,000 ((1) 840,000 (2)
Acceleration of Equity Awards	21,000 (3)	21,000 ((3) 63,000 (4)
Health Care Continuation	16,565 (5)	16,565 ((5) 33,129 (6)
Total	337,565	337,565	936,129

- (1) Base salary continuation for nine months.
- (2) One and a half times the sum of (a) 2019 base salary, and (b) 2019 target annual cash incentive compensation.
- (3) Value attributable to nine months of acceleration of outstanding equity awards.
- (4) Value attributable to acceleration of 100% of outstanding equity awards.
- (5) Payment of the COBRA health insurance premiums until the earlier of (a) nine months following the date of termination, or (b) the end of the COBRA health continuation period.
- (6) Payment of the COBRA health insurance premiums until the earlier of (a) 18 months following the date of termination, or (b) the end of the COBRA health continuation period.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2019 with respect to the shares of our common stock that may be issued under our existing equity compensation plans.

Plan Category	Number of Securities to be Issued Upon Exercise of Outstanding Options, Warrants and Rights	Weighted Avera Exercise Price Outstanding Opti Warrants and Rights	of ons,	Number of Securities Remaining Available for Future Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans (Excluding Securities Reflected in the First Column)
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders(1)	5,437,846	\$ 15	.67 (2	4,085,683 (3)
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders	_		_	_
Total	5,437,846	\$ 15	.67	4,085,683

- (1) Includes the following plans: our 2015 Plan and the 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "2016 ESPP").
- (2) Since restricted stock units do not have any exercise price, such units are not included in the weighted-average exercise price calculation.
- (3) As of December 31, 2019, a total of 4,085,683 shares of our common stock have been reserved for issuance pursuant to the 2015 Plan, which number excludes the 2,007,922 shares that were added to the plan as a result of the automatic annual increase on January 1, 2020. The 2015 Plan provides that the number of shares reserved and available for issuance under the plan will automatically increase each January 1, beginning on January 1, 2017, by 4% of the outstanding number of shares of our common stock on the immediately preceding December 31 or such lesser number of shares as determined by the compensation committee. This number will be subject to adjustment in the event of a stock split, stock dividend or other change in our capitalization. The shares of common stock underlying any awards that are forfeited, cancelled, held back upon exercise or settlement of an award to satisfy the exercise price or tax withholding, reacquired by us prior to vesting, satisfied without the issuance of stock, that expire or are otherwise terminated, other than by exercise, under the 2015 Plan will be added back to the shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2015 Plan. As of December 31, 2019, a total of 1,430,010 shares of our common stock have been reserved for issuance pursuant to the 2016 ESPP. The 2016 ESPP provides that the number of shares reserved and available for issuance under the plan will automatically increase each January 1, beginning on January 1, 2017, by the lesser of 500,000 shares of our common stock, 1% of the outstanding number of shares of our common stock on the immediately preceding December 31 or such lesser number of shares as determined by the compensation committee. This number will be subject to adjustment in the

event of a stock split, stock dividend or other change in our capitalization. The compensation committee determined that the number of shares available for purchase under the 2016 ESPP as of December 31, 2019 was adequate for use in 2020 and determined that there should be no evergreen increase for January 1, 2020.

CEO Pay Ratio

Our compensation and benefits philosophy and the overall structure of our compensation and benefit programs are broadly similar across the organization to encourage and reward all employees who contribute to our success. We strive to ensure the pay of each of our employees reflects the level of their job impact and responsibilities and is competitive within our peer group. Compensation rates are benchmarked and are generally set to be market-competitive in the country in which the jobs are performed. Our ongoing commitment to pay equity is critical to our success in supporting a diverse workforce with opportunities for all employees to grow, develop and contribute.

Under rules adopted pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, we are required to calculate and disclose the total compensation paid to our median paid employee, as well as the ratio of the total compensation paid to the median employee as compared to the total compensation paid to our chief executive officer (the "CEO Pay Ratio"). The paragraphs that follow describe our methodology and the resulting CEO Pay Ratio.

We identified the median employee using our employee population on December 31, 2019 (including all employees, whether employed on a full-time, part-time, seasonal or temporary basis).

We identified the median employee by looking at W-2 compensation, plus estimated bonus, the fair market value of equity grants, life and disability insurance, and the estimated value of 401(k) match (whether vested or not) as of December 31, 2019. We did not perform adjustments to the compensation paid to part-time employees to calculate what they would have been paid on a full-time basis. In identifying the median employee, we did not make any cost-of-living adjustments. Once the median employee was identified, we calculated the median employee's annual target total direct compensation in accordance with the requirements of the Summary Compensation Table.

Our median employee's compensation as calculated using Summary Compensation Table requirements was \$102,476. Our chief executive officer's compensation as reported in the Summary Compensation Table was \$903,786. Therefore, our CEO Pay Ratio is approximately 9:1.

This information is being provided for compliance purposes and is a reasonable estimate calculated in a manner consistent with SEC rules, based on our internal records and the methodology described above. The SEC rules for identifying the median compensated employee allow companies to adopt a variety of methodologies, to apply certain exclusions and to make reasonable estimates and assumptions that reflect their employee populations and compensation practices. Accordingly, the pay ratio reported by other companies may not be comparable to the pay ratio reported above, as other companies have different employee populations and compensation practices and may use different methodologies, exclusions, estimates and assumptions in calculating their own pay ratios. Neither the compensation committee nor management of the Company used the CEO Pay Ratio measure in making compensation decisions.

Director Compensation

The table below shows all compensation paid to our non-employee directors during 2019.

	Fees Paid In Cash	Option Awards	
<u>Name (1)</u>	(\$) (2)	(\$) (3) (4)	Total(\$)
Fred Cohen, M.D., D.Phil. (5)	37,634	510,997	548,631
Caroline Dorsa	55,207	179,497	234,704
Jean-François Formela, M.D.	<u> </u>	179,497	179,497
Jesse Goodman, M.D., M.P.H.	38,293	179,497	217,790
Perry Karsen	77,000	179,497	256,497
Frank Verwiel, M.D.	46,000	179,497	225,497

(1) The aggregate number of shares of our common stock underlying stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2019 for the non-employee members of the board of directors were: Dr. Cohen 57,000; Ms. Dorsa 88,764; Dr. Formela 80,529; Dr. Goodman 57,000; Mr. Karsen 88,764; and Dr. Verwiel 76,000.

- (2) Amounts represent cash compensation for services rendered by each member of the board of directors. Dr. Formela waived his right to receive cash compensation for his service on our board of directors during 2019.
- (3) In 2019, each of Dr. Cohen, Ms. Dorsa, Dr. Formela, Dr. Goodman, Dr. Verwiel and Mr. Karsen was granted an option to purchase 19,000 shares of common stock. Dr. Cohen was also granted an option to purchase 38,000 shares upon his initial election to the board of directors in January 2019.
- (4) Amounts shown reflect the grant date fair value of option awards granted during 2019. The grant date fair value was computed in accordance with FASB ASC 718, disregarding the effect of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting. See note 11 to the financial statements in our 2019 Annual Report regarding assumptions we made in determining the fair value of option awards.
- (5) Dr. Cohen was elected to the board of directors in January 2019.

During 2019, we did not provide any compensation, including cash payments or equity awards, to Dr. Leonard for his service as a director. Compensation paid to Dr. Leonard as an executive officer during 2019 is set forth under "Executive Officer Compensation—Summary Compensation Table."

During 2019, we compensated our non-employee directors with a cash retainer for service on the board of directors and for service on each committee on which the director is a member. The chairperson of the board and of each committee receives a higher retainer for such service. These fees are payable in arrears in four equal quarterly installments on the last day of each quarter, provided that the amount of such payment is prorated for any portion of such quarter that the director is not serving on our board of directors. The fees paid to non-employee directors for service on the board of directors and for service on each committee of the board of directors on which the director is a member are as follows:

	 Member Annual Fee	Chairperson Additional Annual Fee
Board of Directors	\$ 35,000	\$ 30,000
Audit Committee	7,500	7,500
Compensation Committee	5,000	5,000
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee	3,500	3,500

We also reimburse our non-employee directors for reasonable travel and out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with attending our board of director and committee meetings.

In addition, each non-employee director, upon his or her initial election to our board of directors, receives an option to purchase a number of shares of our common stock, which for 2019 was set at 38,000 shares by the board of directors as recommended by the compensation committee, which consulted with Radford and reviewed market data relating to our peer companies. We target the 50th percentile for the board's compensation and use the same peer group as we use for our named executive officer compensation. To be aligned with their director terms, these options vest over the three years following the grant date with 331/3% of the total award vesting one year after the date of grant and the remaining portion of the award vesting thereafter in substantially equal quarterly installments over the next two years, subject to continued service through such date. On the date of each annual meeting of stockholders of our company, each non-employee director is granted a non-qualified stock option to purchase a number of shares of common stock, which for 2019 was set at 19,000 shares by the board of directors as recommended by the compensation committee, which consulted with Radford and reviewed market data relating to our peer companies. Each such option vests and becomes fully exercisable upon the earlier to occur of the first anniversary of the grant date or the date of the next annual meeting of stockholders following the date of grant, subject to continued service as a director through such date. All options issued to our non-employee directors under our director compensation program will become exercisable in full upon a change in control of our company. In addition, the form of option agreement gives non-employee directors up to three months and one day following cessation of service as a director to exercise the options, to the extent vested at the date of such cessation, provided that the director has not been removed for cause. The exercise price of these options is equal to the fair market value of our common s

REPORT OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

The information contained in this report shall not be deemed to be (1) "soliciting material," (2) "filed" with the SEC, (3) subject to Regulations 14A or 14C of the Exchange Act, or (4) subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act. This report shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any of our other filings under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.

The compensation committee has reviewed and discussed the "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" section of this proxy statement with management. Based on the review and discussions, the compensation committee recommended to the board of directors that the "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" section be included in this proxy statement, which is incorporated by reference in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.

THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF INTELLIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Jean-François Formela, M.D., Chairperson Fred Cohen, M.D., D.Phil. Caroline Dorsa Perry Karsen

April 24, 2020

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Certain Relationships and Transactions

Other than compensation arrangements for our directors and named executive officers, which are described elsewhere under the "Executive Officer and Director Compensation" section of this proxy statement, below we describe transactions since January 1, 2019 to which we were a party or will be a party, in which:

- the amounts involved exceeded or will exceed \$120,000; and
- any of our directors, executive officers or holders of more than 5% of our capital stock, or any member of the immediate family of, or person sharing the household with, the foregoing persons, had or will have a direct or indirect material interest.

Novartis Institutes for BioMedical Research, Inc.

Relationship with Novartis

Novartis is a greater-than-5% stockholder in our company.

License and Collaboration Agreement

In December 2014, we entered into a strategic collaboration agreement with Novartis (the "2014 Novartis Agreement"), primarily focused on the research of new *ex vivo* CRISPR/Cas9-edited therapies using chimeric antigen receptor T cells ("CAR-T cells") and hematopoietic stem cells ("HSCs"). The 2014 Novartis Agreement was amended in December 2018 to also include ocular stem cells ("OSCs"). In December 2019, per the terms of the 2014 Novartis Agreement, the research term ended, although the other provisions of the 2014 Novartis Agreement remain in effect.

Under this agreement, we received an upfront technology access payment of \$1.0 million and was entitled to additional technology access fees of \$20.0 million and quarterly research payments of \$1.0 million, or up to \$20.0 million in the aggregate, during the five-year research term, which expired in December 2019. In addition, for each Novartis product under the collaboration (whether HSC or CAR-T cell product, and beginning as of December 2018, an OSC product) subject to certain conditions, we may be eligible to receive (i) up to \$30.3 million in development milestones, including for the filing of an IND and for the dosing of the first patient in each of Phase IIa, Phase IIb and Phase III clinical trials, (ii) up to \$50.0 million in regulatory milestones for the product's first indication, including regulatory approvals in the U.S and the European Union ("EU"), (iii) up to \$50.0 million in regulatory milestones for the product's second indication, if any, including U.S. and EU regulatory approvals, (iv) royalties on net sales in the mid-single-digits, and (v) net sales milestone payments of up to \$100.0 million. Further, at the inception of the arrangement at which time Intellia was a privately-held company, Novartis invested \$9.0 million to purchase our Class A-1 and Class A-2 Preferred Units. The difference between the cash proceeds received from Novartis for the units and the \$11.6 million estimated fair value of those units at the date of issuance was determined to be \$2.6 million. Accordingly, \$2.6 million of the upfront technology access payment was allocated to record the preferred units purchased by Novartis at fair value.

The term of the 2014 Novartis Agreement expires on the later of (i) the expiration of Novartis' payment obligations under the agreement and (ii) the date of expiration of the last-to-expire of the patent rights licensed to us or Novartis under the agreement. Novartis' royalty payment obligations expire on a country-by-country and product-by-product basis upon the later of (i) the expiration of the last valid claim of the royalty-bearing patents covering such product in such country or (ii) 10 years after the first commercial sale of such product in such country. We may terminate the agreement if Novartis or its affiliates institute a patent challenge against our IP rights, and all improvements thereto, licensed to Novartis under the agreement. Novartis may terminate the agreement, without cause, upon 90 days' written notice to us subject to certain conditions, and continuing obligations. Either party may terminate the agreement in the event of the other party's uncured material breach or bankruptcy or insolvency-related events.

Regeneron Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Relationship with Regeneron

Regeneron is a greater-than-5% stockholder in our company.

License and Collaboration Agreement

In April 2016, we entered into a license and collaboration agreement with Regeneron (the "Regeneron Agreement"). The Regeneron Agreement includes two components: i) a product development component to research, develop and commercialize CRISPR/Cas-based therapeutic products primarily focused on genome editing in the liver and ii) a technology collaboration component, pursuant to which we and Regeneron will engage in research and development activities aimed at discovering and developing novel technologies

and improvements to CRISPR/Cas technology to enhance our genome editing platform. Under this agreement, we also may access the Regeneron Genetics Center and proprietary mouse models to be provided by Regeneron for a limited number of our liver programs.

Under the terms of the six-year collaboration, Regeneron may obtain exclusive rights for up to 10 targets to be chosen by Regeneron during the collaboration term, subject to a target selection process and various adjustments and limitations set forth in the agreement. Of these 10 total targets, Regeneron may select up to five non-liver targets, while the remaining targets must be focused in the liver. Certain non-liver targets from our ongoing and planned research at the time, as well as any targets included in another of our collaborations, are excluded from this collaboration. At the inception of the agreement, Regeneron selected the first of its 10 targets, transthyretin amyloidosis ("ATTR"), which is subject to a Co-Development and Co-Promotion ("Co/Co") agreement between us and Regeneron.

In connection with this collaboration, we received a nonrefundable upfront payment of \$75.0 million. In addition, on Regeneron programs that are not subject to Co/Co agreements, we may be eligible to earn, on a per-licensed target basis, (i) up to \$25.0 million in development milestones, including for the dosing of the first patient in each of Phase I, Phase II and Phase III clinical trials, (ii) up to \$110.0 million in regulatory milestones, including for the acceptance of a regulatory filing in the U.S., and for obtaining regulatory approval in the U.S. and in certain other identified countries, and (iii) up to \$185.0 million in sales-based milestone payments. We are also eligible to earn royalties ranging from the high single digits to low teens, in each case, on a per-product basis, which royalties are potentially subject to various reductions and offsets and incorporate our existing low- to mid-single-digit royalty obligations under a license agreement with Caribou Biosciences, Inc.

In connection with this collaboration, Regeneron also purchased \$50.0 million of our common stock in a private placement under a stock purchase agreement concurrent with our initial public offering.

The research collaboration term ends in April 2022, except that Regeneron may make a one-time payment of \$25.0 million to extend the term for an additional two-year period. The Regeneron Agreement will continue until the date when no royalty or other payment obligations are due, unless earlier terminated in accordance with the terms of the agreement. Regeneron's royalty payment obligations expire on a country-by-country and product-by-product basis upon the later of (i) the expiration of the last valid claim of the royalty-bearing patents covering such product in such country, (ii) 12 years from the first commercial sale of such product in such country, or (iii) the expiration of regulatory exclusivity for such product. We may terminate the Regeneron Agreement on a target-by-target basis if Regeneron or any of its affiliates institutes a patent challenge against our CRISPR/Cas or certain other background patent rights that we licensed to Regeneron or does not proceed with the development of a product directed to a selected target within specified periods of time. Regeneron may terminate the agreement, without cause, upon 180 days written notice to us, either in its entirety or on a target-by-target basis, in which event, certain rights in the terminated targets and associated IP revert us, subject to the conditions described in the agreement. Following such termination, we may owe Regeneron royalties, in certain circumstances, up to mid-single digits on any terminated targets that we subsequently commercialize on a product-by-product basis for a period of 12 years after the first commercial sale of any such products. Either party may terminate the Regeneron Agreement either in its entirety or with respect to the research collaboration or one or more of the targets selected by Regeneron, in the event of the other party's uncurred material breach.

In July 2018, we and Regeneron finalized the form of the Co/Co agreement that will be used as the basis for each Co/Co agreement directed to a target. Simultaneously, we and Regeneron executed the Co/Co agreement directed to the first collaboration target, ATTR, for which we are the clinical and commercial Lead Party (see below) and Regeneron is the Participating Party (see below).

Under the Regeneron Agreement, Regeneron has the right to exercise at least five options to enter into a Co/Co agreement for our liver targets (other than our reserved liver targets), while we may exercise at least one option to enter into a Co/Co agreement for Regeneron's liver targets, the exact number of options being subject to certain conditions of the target selection process. Each option to enter into a Co/Co agreement must be exercised (or forfeited) once a target reaches a defined preclinical stage. Except for in relation to the ATTR program, within 15 days of exercising the option, the party exercising the option must pay \$1.5 million to the other party as compensation for prior work. The ATTR program was exempted from this payment. One party will be the "Lead Party" and the other party the "Participating Party". The Lead Party shall have control and primary responsibility for the development, manufacturing, regulatory and commercial activities. The Participating Party shall have the right to consult on these activities through its participation on the Joint Development and Commercialization Committee, an oversight committee that oversees such development, manufacturing, regulatory and commercial activities, and will have the right to co-fund development and commercialization activities in exchange for a share of profits. In general, under each Co/Co agreement, the participating Party may elect to reduce its share of worldwide development costs and profits by 50%. Pursuant to the ATTR Co/Co, Regeneron was obligated to fund 50% of the research and development costs for the ATTR program. On December 13, 2019, Regeneron informed us that it would exercise its rights under the ATTR Co/Co agreement to modify its share of worldwide development costs and profits from 50% to 25%, effective six months after its notice.

Either party may terminate by providing 180 days written notice. If we terminate, the product becomes a Regeneron product, and is subject to all future milestone and royalty payment obligations under the license and collaboration agreement. If Regeneron terminates and has contributed at least \$5.0 million in development costs, we will pay low- to mid-single digit royalties on the net sales of the product, depending on co-funding percentage, stage at termination and, if any, Regeneron IP (as defined in the Co/Co agreement with Regeneron) incorporated into the product.

Limitation of Liability and Indemnification of Officers and Directors

Our second amended and restated certificate of incorporation contains provisions that limit the liability of our directors for monetary damages to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Consequently, our directors will not be personally liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duties as directors, except liability for the following:

- any breach of their duty of loyalty to our company or our stockholders;
- · any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;
- unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions as provided in Section 174 of the DGCL; or
- any transaction from which they derived an improper personal benefit.

Any amendment to, or repeal of, these provisions will not eliminate or reduce the effect of these provisions in respect of any act, omission or claim that occurred or arose prior to that amendment or repeal. If the DGCL is amended to provide for further limitations on the personal liability of directors of corporations, then the personal liability of our directors will be further limited to the greatest extent permitted by the DGCL.

In addition, our second amended and restated by-laws provide that we will indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any person who is or was a party or is threatened to be made a party to any action, suit or proceeding by reason of the fact that he or she is or was one of our directors or officers or is or was serving at our request as a director or officer of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise. Our amended and restated by-laws require that we advance expenses incurred by or on behalf of a director or officer in advance of the final disposition of any action or proceeding, subject to very limited exceptions. Our second amended and restated by-laws also provide that we may indemnify to the fullest extent permitted by law any person who is or was a party or is threatened to be made a party to any action, suit, or proceeding by reason of the fact that he or she is or was one of our employees or agents or is or was serving at our request as an employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise.

We have entered into agreements to indemnify our directors and executive officers. These agreements will, among other things, require us to indemnify these individuals for certain expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and settlement amounts reasonably incurred by such person in any action or proceeding, including any action by or in our right, on account of any services undertaken by such person on behalf of our company or that person's status as a member of our board of directors to the maximum extent allowed under Delaware law.

The limitation of liability and indemnification provisions included in our second amended and restated certificate of incorporation, second amended and restated by-laws and in indemnification agreements that we entered into or may in the future enter into with our directors and executive officers may discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against our directors and executive officers for breach of their fiduciary duties. They may also reduce the likelihood of derivative litigation against our directors and executive officers, even though an action, if successful, might benefit us and other stockholders. Further, a stockholder's investment may be harmed to the extent that we pay the costs of settlement and damage awards against directors and executive officers as required by these indemnification provisions. At present, we are not aware of any pending litigation or proceeding involving any person who is or was one of our directors, officers, employees or other agents or is or was serving at our request as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, for which indemnification is sought, and we are not aware of any threatened litigation that may result in claims for indemnification.

Policies and Procedures for Related Party Transactions

We have adopted a related party transaction approval policy that governs the review of related party transactions. Pursuant to this written policy, if we enter into a transaction involving over \$120,000 with any director, executive officer, holder of 5% or more of any class of our capital stock or any member of the immediate family of, or entities affiliated with, any of them, or any other related party, our audit committee must approve such transaction. Any such transaction must either first be presented to our audit committee for review, consideration or approval, or, if advance review by the committee is not feasible, be reviewed, considered or approved by the committee at its next regularly scheduled meeting. In approving or rejecting any such transaction, our audit committee is to consider the relevant facts and circumstances available and deemed relevant to the audit committee, including, but not limited to, the extent of the related party's interest in the transaction, and whether the transaction is on terms no less favorable to us than terms we could have generally obtained from an unaffiliated third party under the same or similar circumstances. Further, when stockholders are entitled to vote on a transaction with a related party, the material facts of the related party's relationship or interest in the transaction must be disclosed to the stockholders, who must approve the transaction in good faith.

PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS

The following table sets forth information, to the extent known by us or ascertainable from public filings, with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of March 31, 2020 by:

- · each of our directors;
- each of our named executive officers;
- · all of our directors and executive officers as a group; and
- each person, or group of affiliated persons, who is known by us to beneficially own greater-than-5% of our common stock.

The column entitled "Percentage Beneficially Owned" is based on 50,602,875 shares of our common stock outstanding as of March 31, 2020.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC and includes voting or investment power with respect to our common stock. Shares of our common stock subject to options that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of March 31, 2020 are considered outstanding and beneficially owned by the person holding the options for the purpose of calculating the percentage ownership of that person but not for the purpose of calculating the percentage ownership of any other person. Except as otherwise noted, the persons and entities in this table have sole voting and investing power with respect to all of the shares of our common stock beneficially owned by them, subject to community property laws, where applicable. Except as otherwise indicated in the table below, addresses of named beneficial owners are in care of Intellia Therapeutics, Inc., 40 Erie Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139.

Name of Beneficial Owner	Number of Shares Beneficially Owned	Percentage Beneficially Owned
Greater than 5% Stockholders:		
Ark Investment Management LLC (1)	8,741,432	17.3%
BlackRock, Inc. (2)	3,645,230	7.2%
Novartis Institutes for BioMedical Research, Inc. (3)	4,352,295	8.6%
Regeneron Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (4)	2,777,777	5.5%
Sumitomo Mitsui Trust, Inc. (5)	7,178,520	14.2%
The Vanguard Group, Inc. (6)	3,524,199	7.0%
Directors and Executive Officers:		
Fred Cohen, M.D., D.Phil. (7)	44,832	*
Caroline Dorsa (8)	94,174	*
Jean-François Formela, M.D. (9)	80,529	*
Jesse Goodman, M.D. (10)	37,999	*
Perry Karsen (11)	93,764	*
John M. Leonard, M.D. (12)	1,212,302	2.4%
Frank Verwiel, M.D. (13)	72,833	*
Glenn Goddard (14)	50,036	*
José E. Rivera, J.D. (15)	630,202	1.2%
Andrew Schiermeier, Ph.D. (16)	222,367	*
Laura Sepp-Lorenzino, Ph.D. (17)	37,500	*
All current executive officers and directors as a		
group (11 persons) (18)	2,576,538	5.1%

- * Represents beneficial ownership of less than one percent of our outstanding common stock.
- (1) The information reported is based on a Schedule 13G/A, as filed by Ark Investment Management LLC ("Ark") with the SEC on February 14, 2020. Ark has sole voting power over 7,186,050 shares, shared voting power over 616,716 shares, sole dispositive power over 8,741,432 shares and no shared dispositive power. The address of ARK Investment Management LLC is 3 East 28th Street, 7th Floor, New York, NY 10016.
- (2) The information reported is based on information in a Schedule 13G/A, as filed by BlackRock, Inc. ("BlackRock") with the SEC on February 5, 2020. All shares are beneficially owned by BlackRock, a parent holding company, and on behalf of its wholly owned subsidiaries (i) BlackRock Advisors, LLC; (ii) BlackRock Investment Management (UK) Limited; (iii) BlackRock Asset Management Canada Limited; (iv) BlackRock (Luxembourg) S.A.; (v) BlackRock (Netherlands) B.V.; (vi) BlackRock Fund Advisors; (vii) BlackRock Asset Management Ireland Limited; (viii) BlackRock Institutional Trust Company, National

- Association; (ix) BlackRock Financial Management, Inc.; (x) BlackRock Japan Co., Ltd.; (xi) BlackRock Asset Management Schweiz AG and (xii) BlackRock Investment Management, LLC. BlackRock has sole voting power over 3,500,591 shares of our common stock and has sole dispositive power over 3,645,230 shares of our common stock. The address of BlackRock, Inc. is 55 East 52nd Street, New York, NY 10055.
- (3) The information reported is based on a Schedule 13D/A, as filed with the SEC on March 30, 2020, in which Novartis and Novartis AG reported that Novartis AG, as the parent company of Novartis, may be deemed to beneficially own all of the shares of Common Stock held directly by Novartis. The address for Novartis is 250 Massachusetts Avenue, Cambridge, MA 02139.
- (4) The address for Regeneron is 777 Old Saw Mill River Road, Tarrytown, NY 10591.
- (5) The information reported is based on a Schedule 13G/A, as filed by Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Holdings, Inc. ("Sumitomo") and Nikko Asset Management Co., Ltd. ("NAM") with the SEC on February 12, 2020. Sumitomo and NAM both have shared voting and dispositive power over 7,178,520 shares of our common stock. Sumitomo and NAM are both Japanese parent holding companies of Nikko Asset Management Americas, Inc., which is deemed to beneficially have shared voting power over 4,881,242 shares and shared dispositive power over 7,178,520 shares of our common stock. The address of Nikko Asset Management Americas, Inc. is 605 Third Avenue, 38th Floor, New York, NY 10158.
- (6) The information reported is based on a Schedule 13G/A, as filed by The Vanguard Group ("Vanguard") with the SEC on February 12, 2020. Vanguard has sole voting power with respect to 67,127 shares of our common stock, shared voting power with respect to 3,861 shares of our common stock, sole dispositive power with respect to 3,456,483 shares of our common stock, and shared dispositive power with respect to 67,716 shares of our common stock. Of the 3,524,199 total shares of our common stock beneficially owned by Vanguard, Vanguard Fiduciary Trust Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Vanguard, is the beneficial owner of 63,855 shares of our common stock as a result of its serving as investment manager of collective trust accounts. Vanguard Investments Australia, Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Vanguard, is the beneficial owner of 7,133 shares of our common stock as a result of its serving as investment manager of Australian investment offerings. The principal business address of The Vanguard Group is 100 Vanguard Blvd., Malvern, PA 19355.
- (7) Consists of (i) 10,000 shares of common stock, and (ii) 34,832 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2020.
- (8) Consists of (i) 5,410 shares of common stock, and (ii) 88,764 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2020.
- (9) Consists of 80,529 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options issued to Dr. Formela that are exercisable within 60 days of March 31, 2020. 1,615,321 shares of our common stock are held directly by Atlas Venture Fund IX, L.P., or Atlas Venture Fund IX. Atlas Venture Associates IX, L.P., or AVA IX L.P., is the general partner of Atlas Venture Fund IX, and Atlas Venture Associates IX, L.L.C., or AVA IX L.P., is the general partner of AVA IX L.P. Peter Barrett, Bruce Booth, Jean-François Formela, Jeff Fagnan and Ryan Moore are the members of AVA IX L.L.C. and collectively make investment decisions on behalf of Atlas Venture Fund IX. Dr. Formela as a member of AVA IX L.L.C is obligated to transfer the economic benefit, if any, received upon the sale of the shares issuable upon exercise of the equity grants to Atlas Venture Advisors, L.P. As such, Dr. Formela disclaims beneficial ownership of the securities held by Atlas Venture Fund IX for purposes of Section 16 of the Exchange Act, except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein, if any.
- (10) Consists of 37,999 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2020.
- (11) Consists of (i) 5,000 shares of common stock, and (ii) 88,764 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2020.
- (12) Consists of (i) 525,767 shares of common stock, and (ii) 686,535 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2020. On April 25, 2017, Dr. Leonard pledged 145,000 shares of common stock to secure a loan; our audit committee authorized and approved the pledge on April 25, 2017.
- (13) Consists of 72,833 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2020.
- (14) Consists of 50,036 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2020.
- (15) Consists of (i) 275,722 shares of common stock, of which 262,210 shares are held by Rivak Capital LLC ("Rivak"), and (ii) 354,480 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2020. Mr. Rivera is a member and the general manager of Rivak and has voting and dispositive power over the 262,210 shares held by Rivak.

- (16) Consists of (i) 10,316 shares of common stock, and (ii) 212,051 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2020.
- (17) Consists of 37,500 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2020.
- (18) Consists of (i) 832,215 shares of common stock, and (ii) 1,744,323 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2020.

DELINQUENT SECTION 16(A) REPORTS

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors, executive officers, and persons holding more than 10% of our common stock to report their initial ownership of the common stock and other equity securities and any changes in that ownership in reports that must be filed with the SEC. The SEC has designated specific deadlines for these reports, and we must identify in this proxy statement those persons who did not file these reports when due.

Based solely on a review of reports furnished to us, or written representations from reporting persons, we believe all directors, executive officers, and 10% owners timely filed all reports regarding transactions in our securities required to be filed for 2019 by Section 16(a) under the Exchange Act with the exception of one Form 4 transaction for Andrew Schiermeier, our executive vice president, chief operating officer.

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee is appointed by the board of directors to assist the board of directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to (1) the integrity of Intellia's financial statements and financial reporting process and systems of internal controls regarding finance, accounting, and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, (2) the qualifications, independence, and performance of Intellia's independent registered public accounting firm, (3) the performance of Intellia's internal audit function, if any, and (4) other matters as set forth in the charter of the audit committee approved by the board of directors.

Management is responsible for the preparation of Intellia's financial statements and the financial reporting process, including its system of internal control over financial reporting and its disclosure controls and procedures. The independent registered public accounting firm is responsible for performing an audit of Intellia's financial statements in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB and issuing a report thereon. The audit committee's responsibility is to monitor and oversee these processes.

In connection with these responsibilities, the audit committee reviewed and discussed with management and the independent registered public accounting firm the audited consolidated financial statements of Intellia for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, including internal control testing under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The audit committee also discussed with the independent registered public accounting firm the matters required to be discussed by the PCAOB's Auditing Standard No. 1301, *Communication with Audit Committees*, and the SEC. In addition, the audit committee received written disclosures and the letter from the independent registered public accounting firm as required by the applicable requirements of the PCAOB regarding the independent registered public accounting firm's communications with the audit committee concerning independence and has discussed with the independent registered public accounting firm their independence.

Based on the reviews and discussions referred to above, the audit committee recommended to the board of directors that the audited consolidated financial statements of Intellia be included in Intellia's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, that was filed with the SEC.

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF INTELLIA THERAPEUTICS, INC. Caroline Dorsa, Chairperson Jean-François Formela, M.D. Frank Verwiel, M.D.

April 24, 2020

HOUSEHOLDING

Some banks, brokers and other nominee record holders may be participating in the practice of "householding" proxy statements and annual reports. This means that only one copy of our documents, including the Notice and, if applicable, the 2019 Annual Report and proxy statement, may have been sent to multiple stockholders in your household. We will promptly deliver a separate copy of either document to you upon written request to Intellia Therapeutics, Inc., 40 Erie Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139, Attention: Investor Relations / Corporate Secretary or by emailing IRcontact@intelliatx.com. If you want to receive separate copies of the proxy statement or annual report to stockholders in the future, or if you are receiving multiple copies and would like to receive only one copy per household, you should contact your bank, broker or other nominee record holder, or you may contact us at the above address and phone number.

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

A stockholder who would like to have a proposal considered for inclusion in our 2021 proxy statement must submit the proposal in accordance with the procedures outlined in Rule 14a-8 of the Exchange Act so that it is received by us no later than December 25, 2020. However, if the date of the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is changed by more than 30 days from the anniversary date of the previous year's meeting, then the deadline is a reasonable time before we begin to print and send our proxy statement for the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. SEC rules set standards for eligibility and specify the types of stockholder proposals that may be excluded from a proxy statement. Stockholder proposals should be addressed to Intellia Therapeutics, Inc., 40 Erie Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139, Attention: Investor Relations / Corporate Secretary.

If a stockholder wishes to propose a nomination of persons for election to our board of directors or present a proposal at an annual meeting but does not wish to have the proposal considered for inclusion in our proxy statement and proxy card, our second amended and restated by-laws establish an advance notice procedure for such nominations and proposals. Stockholders at an annual meeting may only consider proposals or nominations specified in the notice of meeting or brought before the meeting by or at the direction of the board of directors or by a stockholder of record on the record date for the meeting, who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who has delivered timely notice in proper form to our corporate secretary of the stockholder's intention to bring such business before the meeting.

The required notice must be in writing and received by our corporate secretary at our principal executive offices not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year's annual meeting. However, in the event that the date of the 2021 annual meeting is advanced by more than 20 days, or delayed by more than 60 days, from the first anniversary of the 2020 annual meeting, a stockholder's notice must be so received no later than the close of business of the 90th day prior to the 2021 annual meeting or the tenth day following the day on which notice of the date of the 2021 annual meeting was first made, whichever first occurs. For stockholder proposals to be brought before the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the required notice must be received by our corporate secretary at our principal executive offices no earlier than close of business on February 18, 2021 and no later than close of business on March 20, 2021. Stockholder proposals and the required notice should be addressed to Intellia Therapeutics, Inc., 40 Erie Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139, Attention: Investor Relations / Corporate Secretary.

In addition to the above, a stockholder who would like to propose a nomination of persons for election to our board of directors must submit the proposal in accordance with the procedures outlined in the nominating and corporate governance committee's charter, a current copy of which is posted on the corporate governance section of our website, http://ir.intelliatx.com/corporate-governance/documents-charters. Specifically, all nomination recommendations must include (i) the name and address of record of the stockholder; (ii) a representation that the stockholder is a record holder of Intellia's securities, or if the stockholder is not a record holder, evidence of ownership in accordance with Rule 14a-8(b)(2) of the Exchange Act; (iii) the name, age, business and residential address, educational background, current principal occupation or employment, and principal occupation or employment for the precedent five (5) full fiscal years of the proposed director candidate; (iv) a description of the qualifications and background of the proposed director candidate which addresses the minimum qualifications and other criteria for membership on our board of directors as set forth in the charter of the nominating and corporate governance committee; (v) a description of all arrangements or understandings between the stockholder and the proposed director candidate; (vi) the consent of the proposed director candidate (A) to be named in the proxy statement relating to Intellia's annual meeting of stockholders and (B) to serve as a director if elected; and (vii) any other information regarding the proposed director candidate that is required to be included in a proxy statement filed pursuant to the rules of the SEC.

INTELLIA THERAPEUTICS, INC 40 ERIE STREET, SUITE 130 CAMBRIOGE, MA 02139

VOTE BY INTERNET

nual Meeting of Stockholders (the "Meeting") - Go to www.proxyvote.com

Use the Internet to transmit your voting instructions and for electronic delivery of information up until 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on June 17, 2020. Have your proxy card in hand when you access the web site and follow the instructions to obtain your records and to create an electronic voting instruction form.

During The Meeting - Go to www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/NTLA2020

You may attend the Meeting via the Internet and vote during the Meeting. Have the information that is printed in the box marked by the arrow available and follow the instructions.

VOTE BY PHONE - 1-800-690-6903
Use any touch-tone telephone to transmit your voting instructions up until 11.59 p.m. Eastern Time on June 17, 2020. Have your proxy card in hand when you call and then follow the instructions.

VOTE BY MAIL.

Mark, sign and date your proxy card and return it in the postage-paid envelope we have provided or return it to Vote Processing, old Broadridge, 51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, NY 11717

TO VOTE, MARK BLOCKS BELOW IN BLUE OR BLACK INK AS FOLLOWS:

NTELLIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.	Ent	Withhold	For All	To withhold authority to vote for any individual			
The Board of Directors recommends you vote FOR the following nominees:	All	All	Except	nominee(s), mark "For All, Except" and write the number(s) of the nominee(s) on the line below		-	\neg
 Election of Directors Election of the following individuals nominated to serve as Class I directors, for a three-year term ending at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2023. 	0	0	0	: 			I
01) Jean-François Formela, M.D. 02) Jesse Goodman, M.D., M.P.H.							
The Board of Directors recommends you vote FOR the following	lowing	proposal			For	Against	Abstain
 Ratification of the appointment of Defoite & Touche I December 31, 2020 	LLP as	Intellia's in	dependen	it registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending	0	0	0
The Board of Directors recommends you vote FOR the follows:	lowing	proposal			For	Against	Abstain
3. Approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation of the n	amed	executive o	fficers.		0	0	0
NOTE: Such other business as may properly come before the me-	eting o	rany adjour	rnment the	ereof			
Please sign exactly as your name(s) appear(s) hereon. When s administrator, or other fiduciary, please give full title as such. It personally. All holders must sign. If a corporation or partnership or partnership name by authorized officer.	oint ow	mers should	d each sign	n .			
Control (NEACE CICALIMITAIN DON)							

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held June 18, 2020:

The Notice, Proxy Statement and 2019 Annual Report are available at www.proxyvote.com.

D00828-P35044

INTELLIA THERAPEUTICS, INC. Annual Meeting of Stockholders June 18, 2020 9:00 AM, EDT This proxy is solicited by the Board of Directors

The undersigned hereby appoints John Leonard, M.D., Glenn Goddard and José Rivera, J.D., as proxies, each with the power to act without the other and appoint his substitute, and hereby authorizes them to represent and to vote, as designated on the reverse side of this ballot, all of the shares of common stock of Intellia Therapeutics, Inc. that the undersigned is entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held online at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/NTLA2020 on Thursday, June 18, 2020 at 9:00 AM, EDT and at any adjournment or postponement thereof. Receipt of the Notice of the 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, Proxy Statement and 2019 Annual Report is hereby acknowledged.

This proxy, when properly executed, will be voted in the manner directed herein. If no such direction is made, this proxy will be voted in accordance with the Board of Directors' recommendations.

Continued and to be signed on reverse side